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Corporate Profile
Bank of Maldives is proud to be the only local bank, serving the entire nation through the largest 
banking network reaching virtually every citizen in the country. Today, the Bank takes pride in serving 
over 235,000 valued customers via its numerous branches, ATM’s and POS terminals.

We understand that we play a pivotal role as an engine of growth and a partner for success for 
thousands of individuals, families and businesses of every size.

We are the only bank in the country providing a full range of modern banking products to meet the 
financial needs for individuals, businesses and institutional investors. We built this company to attract 
the best employees to serve our customers and clients, to support local communities and to create 
long-term value for our shareholders.

We, at Bank of Maldives, have embarked on a journey to transform the business and to become a 
truly customer-focused organisation.



.

Vision
We will lead the way through quality of service and dedication of our staff. We will serve all our communities to the best of 
our ability, strive always to listen to your needs and so build total customer confidence and satisfaction.
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Mission
 » To be the leader in the financial services industry in Maldives, spreading its presence in 

all key economic geographies in Maldives

 » To be the leader in the financial services industry in Maldives, inculcating a long term 
saving culture in the nation and promoting a cashless society

 » To be one of the most efficient, profitable and respected financial institutions in Maldives

Core Values
 » Integrity

 » Innovation

 » Respect

 » Communication

 » Service                                    
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Financial Highlights
(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

2012 2011 Change

Results for the year
Gross Income  1,351,160,139  1,074,778,558 26%

Net Interest Income  491,044,349  477,378,139 3%

Operating Profit (before provision and taxes)  792,107,919  518,756,150 53%

Net Profit After Tax  374,475,649  -  

Results at the end of the year
Shareholder’s Equity  1,239,724,885  766,880,005 62%

Deposits from Customers  7,877,085,525  7,518,761,713 5%

Customer Advances (Net)  5,069,917,030  5,059,735,829 0%

Total Assets  10,162,209,783  9,564,012,183 6%

Information per ordinary share
Earnings - Basic (MVR)  69.58  -  -

Net Asset Value (MVR)  230.35  142.49 62%

Market Value at year end (MVR)  135.00  73.00 85%

Ratios
Return on Average Shareholder’s Equity 37.32% -

Return on Average Assets 3.80% -

Price Earning Ratio (times)  1.94  - 

Statutory ratios
Capital Adequacy (Statutory Requirement 12%) 20.56% 13.21% 55.64%
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Financial Highlights
(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)
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Chairman’s 
Statement

Dear Shareholders,

Assalamua’alaikum, warahmathullah wabarakaathuhu 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I take pleasure in presenting 
you the Annual Report of Bank of Maldives for the financial year 
ending 31st December 2012.

Year 2012 saw the Bank of Maldives marking the historic 
occasion of 30 years of service. Our success over the three 
decades clearly demonstrates and reflects the strength of 
our mission, values and our staff enduring commitment and 
dedication to providing service to the people of the country. As 
we continue our journey, I assure you that Bank of Maldives is 
ever determined to excel in providing the expected quality of 
banking and financial service to the nation.  

Financial Highlights
I am pleased to state that 2012 was another successful year for 
the Bank of Maldives, with respect to both financial performance 
and achievements. Our gross income earnings reached a 
total of MVR1.35 billion, a 25.7% increase against last year. 
Compared to last year, the Bank was able to reduce its loan 
loss provision; MVR292.9 million was allocated as loan loss 
provisions. Operating profit for the year was MVR792.11 million, 
an increase of 52.7% compared to 2011.

We were able to achieve the above as a result of the tough 
decisions taken by the Bank over the past two years to address 
the long standing NPNA problem. Today, our corporate strategy 
is focused towards customers, employees, financial strength and 
strong risk management and operations paving the way for the 
Bank to achieve strong financial success.

Human Resources
We remain steadfast in our commitment to invest in our people 
and to provide them with the skills that they, and the Bank, will 
need to ensure that our organisation will continue to prosper in 
the future. In line with this, the Bank successfully implemented a 
Human Resource Transformation Program, with focus on training 
and development and performance management system. 
Ongoing investment in our people helps us to ensure that we 
retain our position as the employer of choice.

Dr. Abdullah Shiham Hassan, Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Sustainability
In addition to achieving strong financial results, Bank of Maldives has always been 
in the forefront to contributing to the society and community. In 2012, the Bank has 
undertaken a number of initiatives where the Bank focused on areas of community 
well being, education, development and enrichment of the youth. 

Acknowledgement
I am thankful for the support and understanding of our shareholders and stakeholders 
and for their unrelenting loyalty. I would also like to thank our employees for the extra 
effort, their resilience and cooperation and dedication to quality and customer care. 

I wish to thank my fellow Board Members for their invaluable contribution in 
collectively steering the Bank’s strategic direction and in providing concentrated focus 
throughout the year in achieving our challenging goals. 

I also convey my appreciation to the Government of Maldives, especially the Minister 
of Finance and Treasury H.E. Abdulla Jihad for the guidance and support extended. I 
further extend my gratitude to the Governor of Maldives Monetary Authority, Dr. Fazeel 
Najeeb and his executive team for the strong support and insightful guidance provided 
throughout the year. 

Conclusion
With the strong foundation laid, I would like to assure all shareholders that the Bank is 
moving forward in the right direction. In the year ahead, we will work hard to maintain 
the role of the leading financial institute of the country, by introducing innovative 
products and services, being customer focused while at the same time ensuring 
full compliance with the prudential risk management and corporate governance 
standards. 

May Almighty Allah guide us all and our institution in our quest to greater heights and 
bestow us with a brighter future.

Dr. Abdullah Shiham Hassan
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Chief 
Executive’s 
Review
It is a great honour to be presenting this 2012 Annual Report and Accounts.  I would 
like to begin by expressing my most sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers 
and staff for their loyalty and support during the past 12 months.

During 2011 we established two fundamental priorities which would sit at the heart of 
the transformation of the Bank. 

 » The first was to address the long standing NPNA problem

 » The second was to establish a very clear strategy for the business, a strategy 
built around Customers, Employees, Financial Strength and Strong Risk and 
Operations

Within this annual report I am delighted that we are able to begin to see positive 
benefits from these priorities, the transformation of BML is far from over, however, the 
signs of what we can become are evident.

Within my review I therefore feel it is appropriate to focus on the progress we have 
made.

Financial Performance
On the back of tough decisions in 2011, the Bank is now fully compliant with MMA’s 
provisioning requirements and the most obvious impact is that we have recorded 
retained profits for the year.  As a result, not only have we retained profits, but, as I will 
outline later we have achieved net profit of MVR374.48 million which are amongst 
the best ever achieved by BML.

 » Gross revenue MVR1.35 billion represents growth of 25.7% over 2011 and 
62.8% compared to 2010

 » Operating profit growth has grown to MVR792.11 million an increase of 
52.7%. Not only have we grown our profitability, but cost control remains 
strong with the cost income ratio at 26.2% against 34.9% in 2011

 » Our capital position is considerably improved, Shareholders funds have 
increased to MVR1.24 billion and Capital adequacy, a key measure of the 
Bank’s safety stands at 20.56% up from 13.21% in 2011

Mr. Peter Horton, Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer
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Progress Towards Meeting Our Strategic 
Objectives
A major emphasis in our strategic objectives is to focus on significant improvements 
to our customer proposition. 

 » A key initiative supporting Customer Experience BML Lite was launched in 
November 2012 offering 6 days week banking and a vastly improved service 
offering to our retail clients. We see BML Lite as the building block for the 
future branch experience and many new processes and technologies are 
being introduced to this site already

 » We are fully aware that processes improvement is essential if we are to 
increase the productivity and efficiency of the business. During 2012 detailed 
process mapping was undertaken and we are now beginning to apply process 
improvement initiatives within the business.  Already, there has been significant 
centralisation underway with a clear focus on improving the quality of what 
we do and at the same time seeking to improve the customer interaction.  
Processing centrally allows branch staff to serve customers, account opening 
centralisation allows us to make the process of opening an account with the 
Bank easier

 » Technology investments include upgrade of our credit card systems, 
installation of new cutting edge servers  and additional POS terminals that will 
not only improve on what we have but also move us to a point where every 
single inhabited island has access to BML POS terminals

 » Significant investments in our people, with key initiatives including Customer 
Service Training, Performance Management roll out and Islamic Banking 
Training for the entire business

Our transformation remains an on-going process; if BML is to become and remain 
the Bank our shareholders and customers want us to be then we must accept that 
change is likely to be a permanent feature of our business. 

The Coming Twelve Months
We continue to invest in the business as we seek to meet our stakeholder’s needs, 
to keep BML at the forefront of the industry and to continue recent trends in strong 
financial performance.  In terms of what we expect during the coming 12 months, I 
feel it is important to outline briefly some of the key initiatives:

 » Following approvals received from MMA, the Bank will launch Islamic Banking 
and Bancassurance during 2013

 » Major upgrades to internet banking and mobile banking

 » As we seek to make our branches more accessible and customer friendly we 
will undertake significant premises investments in Male

In Conclusion
Our 2012 results were achieved against the backdrop of a stagnant market and 
where concerns regarding the global economy continue to linger. I think we can 
take pride that we achieved such success and at the same time moved significantly 
towards clearing all regulatory breaches and tightening our own internal risk 
framework.

It would be remiss of me not to mention that this major turnaround in the Bank’s 
performance was achieved in the same year that we celebrated our 30th Anniversary. 
It is passionate commitment to ensure that the current changes the bank is 
undergoing will serve it comfortably for the next 30 years.

Subsequent to the year end, it is with great sadness that the Bank lost Mr. J.N. Lucian 
Jayakody, Chief Internal Auditor of the Bank. Lucian was a highly valuable member of 
the Executive Committee Team of the Bank and was an influential contributor to the 
business and its people during his time at BML. He will be very much missed by us 
all. 

I would personally like to thank the Board of Directors and the entire BML team for 
their hard work, commitment and dedication to make BML a Bank the Nation can be 
proud of.  

Peter Horton
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
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Dr. Abdullah Shiham 
Hassan 
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Dr. Abdullah Shiham Hassan is a Lawyer 
and a Senior Lecturer of Faculty of 
Shari’ah and Law at the Maldives 
National University. He has established 
the Institute of Islamic Finance Maldives 
(IIFM) and conducts lectures on Islamic 
banking and finance. He served as 
Advisor on Islamic Finance to the 
Maldives Monetary Authority from 2008 
to 2010 to introduce Islamic Banking 
and Insurance in Maldives. Dr. Shiham is 
also one of the founding members of the 
Maldives Fiqh Academy at the Ministry 
of Islamic Affairs. Dr. Shiham holds a 
Board Directorship at Amana Takaful 
Maldives PLC since January 2012. Dr. 
Shiham earned his Doctor of Philosophy 
in Laws (PhD) from International Islamic 
University Malaysia (IIUM), specializing 
in Regulation and Supervision of Islamic 
Banking. He also achieved Master 
of Comparative Laws (MCL) degree 
with specialization in Islamic Insurance 
(Takaful) from IIUM. His undergraduate 
Bachelor of Laws (LLB(Hons)) degree 
was undertaken at the University 
of Tasmania, Australia. From 1975 
onwards, soon after Secondary 
Education in Maldives, Dr. Shiham 
began his public service career and 
was employed in the Foreign Service. 
Subsequently, with legal qualifications 
he was entrusted with Legal, Consular 
and Diplomatic Service. In the meantime, 
Dr. Shiham has always engaged himself 
in Public Service through educational 
and legal services. He was appointed 
to the Bank of Maldives’ Board on 10th 
August 2011 and reappointed on 08th 
November 2012. He holds no shares in 
the Bank.

Mr. Peter Horton, 
Managing Director and 
CEO 
(Non-Independent, Executive 
Director) 

Mr. Peter Horton joined the Bank on 
24th February 2011. He has a BSc. 
Honours in Financial Services (First 
Class) and is an Associate of Chartered 
Institute of Bankers (London). He started 
his banking career with Barclays in 1984 
and has been working in the international 
arena since 1999. During this tenure 
he gained significant exposure and 
experience in all aspects of banking 
including Retail and Corporate Credit. 
He has also successfully led teams in 
the Risk, Distressed Debt and Corporate 
arenas and has been involved at a 
strategic level in formulating bank wide 
credit policies as well as implementing 
business transformations and 
restructuring initiatives. Prior to joining 
Bank of Maldives, Mr. Horton worked as 
the Corporate Director of First Caribbean 
International Bank in Bahamas and Turks 
and Caicos Islands. He was appointed 
to the Bank’s board on 06th April 2011 
and was re-appointed on 10th August 
2011 and 08th November 2012. He 
holds no shares in the Bank.

Ms. Aishath Noordeen
(Non-Independent, Executive 
Director)

Ms. Aishath Noordeen is widely 
recognised for her contributions to the 
Bank of Maldives and has represented 
the Bank in various forums locally and 
internationally. She began her career 
with State Bank of India in 1982, and 
was elevated to the Board of Directors 
of the Bank as a Government appointed 
director on 13th June 2008.

She is instrumental in establishing the 
international banking business of the 
Bank of Maldives. Under her leadership 
the Bank achieved various recognitions 
for its international banking services 
through our esteemed correspondent 
banking partners. She served as the 
Acting Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Bank from 29th 
August 2010 till 04th April 2011. She 
has banking experience spanning over 
30 years and represents the Bank in 
the Maldives Finance Leasing Company 
board. Ms. Noordeen holds no shares in 
the Bank.

Mr. Mohamed Jaish 
Ibrahim 
(Non-Independent, Non-
Executive Director)

He holds a first class honors degree in 
interior architecture from the University 
of Nottingham Trent, England. Since 
2010 he has based himself in Malaysia 
as a FOREX trader. Mr. Mohamed 
Jaish Ibrahim has been appointed to 
the Bank’s Board by the Government 
since 07th August 2009 and was last 
appointed on 08th November 2012 He 
holds no shares in the Bank.

Board of Directors
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Mr. Adam Azim
(Non-Independent, Non-
Executive Director)

Mr. Adam Azim is the General Manager 
of Sales and Marketing Department 
of State Trading Organization PLC 
(STO). He is also the Chairperson of 
STO recreation club. He served in the 
Maldives Water and Sewerage Company 
(MWSC) for over 10 years and held the 
position of Finance Manager. Mr. Azim 
holds an honors degree in Accounting 
and Finance from the University of 
East London and a Master of Business 
Administration from Nottingham 
University specialising in Finance. Mr. 
Azim is the Chairman of Maldives 
Structural Products (MSP) a subsidiary 
company of STO and a director of 
Rasheed Carpentry and Construction 
(RCNC). Mr. Azim was appointed to the 
Board on 06th April 2011 and was 
reappointed on 10th August 2011 and 
08th November 2012. He holds 100 
shares in the Bank.

Mr. Mohamed Abdul 
Sattar
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar is the 
Managing Director of Coco Huts Pvt. 
Ltd. and holds a Master of Business 
Administration from University of Wales, 
UK. He was elected to the Board of 
Directors of the Bank by the public 
shareholders from 08th September 
2004 to 29th June 2005. Mr. Abdul 
Sattar was appointed to the Board by the 
Government on 30th October 2005 and 
continued to be reappointed annually. 
From 07th August 2009 he has been 
elected to the Board by the public 
shareholders to date. He holds 2,300 
shares in the Bank.

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed is a finance and 
tourism sector professional and the 
Managing Director of Tropical Island 
Holidays Pvt. Ltd. He also serves on 
the boards of several public and private 
companies including the Maldives 
Airports Company Ltd. and Maldive 
Travels and Trading Company Pvt. 
Ltd. Mr. Ibrahim holds a postgraduate 
degree in Tourism from University of 
Strathclyde, UK and a Higher National 
Diploma in Business and Finance 
(Tourism) from South Glamorgan Institute 
of Higher Education (Cardiff Metropolitan 
University), UK. He has served on the 
board both as a Government appointed 
director as well as a director elected by 
the public shareholders and was last 
elected on 08th November 2012. He 
holds 960 shares in the Bank.

Mr. Hassan Shameem 
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Mr. Hassan Shameem has over 16 
years of management experience and 
is currently the Managing Director of 
Inoca Pvt. Ltd. Before establishing 
Inoca Pvt. Ltd. Mr. Shameem worked 
as the Project Director of Maldives 
Tourism Development Corporation 
PLC (MTDC). Mr. Shameem held the 
position of the Head of Tender Board 
Section at the Ministry of Construction 
and Public Works in 2001. He has also 
served in a number of committees of 
the Government including Strategic 
Planning Committee at the Ministry of 
Construction and Steering Committee 
of the World Bank’s Third Education 
Project. Mr. Shameem holds a 
Master of Science Degree in Project 
Management from the UK and Bachelor 
of Construction Management and 
Economics (Hons) from Australia. He has 
worked in New Zealand for eight years 
and is a member of Australian and New 
Zealand Institute of Quantity Surveyors 
and a member of Project Management 
Institute of New Zealand. Mr. Shameem 
was appointed to the Board by the 
Government on 08th November 2012. 
He has no shares in BML. 
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Board of Directors

Mr. Abdulla Naseem
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Mr. Abdulla Naseem is the Assistant 
Manager, Accounts and Finance of 
Rainbow Enterprises Pvt. Ltd. He has 
completed part one of Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA), 
UK and acquired Certified Accounting 
Technician (CAT). Mr. Naseem was 
appointed to the Board by the 
Government on 08th November 2012. 
Mr. Naseem has 100 shares in BML.

Dr. Ismail Shafeeu 
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Dr. Ismail Shafeeu is the Medical Director 
and the former Acting CEO of Indhira 
Gandhi Memorial Hospital (IGMH). 
He has a Master’s Degree in Heath 
Management and a Post Graduate 
Diploma in Health Sciences specializing 
in Health Informatics from the University 
of Auckland, New Zealand. Dr. Shafeeu 
also has a diploma in child health from 
Bahaudhin Zakariyya University, Multan 
where he also acquired his M.B.B.S. Dr. 
Shafeeu served as a Board Director at 
Male’ Health Services Corporation. Dr. 
Shafeeu was appointed to the Board 
by the Government on 08th November 
2012. He has 100 shares in BML.

Ms. Fathimath Niuma
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Ms. Fathimath Niuma is the Technical 
Advisor to the Minister of Economic 
Development. She has a Masters 
Degree in Public Policy from Lee Kuan 
Yew School of Public Policy of the 
National University of Singapore and 
a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Business 
Administration from University of 
Northumbria, New Castle, UK. She also 
has an Advanced Diploma in Hospitality 
Management from Legend International 
School, Malaysia. Ms. Niuma is a Board 
Director of Maldives Marketing and 
Public Relations Corporation (MMPRC). 
Ms. Niuma was elected to the Board 
by the public shareholders on 08th 
November 2012. She has 100 shares 
in BML.
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Mr. Hassan Muzni 
Mohamed
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Mr. Hassan Muzni Mohamed is the 
Assistant General Manager and Head 
of Human Resources Department at 
Maldives Ports Limited. He holds a 
Bachelor of Sciences Honours degree in 
Computing and a Post Graduate Diploma 
in Technology Management from 
Staffordshire University, UK. Mr. Muzni 
was appointed to the Bank’s Board on 
30th October 2010 and re-appointed 
on 10th August 2011. He holds 01 
share in the Bank.

Ms. Nuha Mohamed 
Riza
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Ms. Nuha Mohamed Riza is the Head 
of Economic Policy and Business 
Facilitation Section of Ministry of 
Economic Development. She holds 
a Bachelor’s degree in Economics 
from Trinity College, University of 
Cambridge, UK and a Master’s degree 
in International Accounting and Finance 
from Cass Business School, City 
University, London. Ms. Nuha was 
appointed to the Board on 30th October 
2010 and re-appointed on 10th August 
2011. She holds no shares in the Bank.

Mr. Hussain Shaheem
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Mr. Hussain Shaheem is the Managing 
Director of Sirius Financial Services Pvt. 
Ltd, Sirius Enterprises Pvt. Ltd and Year 
Around Pvt. Ltd. He has over 25 years 
of experience in Automobile Engineering. 
Mr. Hussain was appointed to the Board 
on 10th August 2011. He holds no 
shares in the Bank. 

Mr. Ahmed Mohamed
(Independent, Non-Executive 
Director)

Mr. Ahmed Mohamed holds a First 
Class Honours Bachelor’s degree in 
Engineering Sciences and a Master’s 
degree in Economics (Public Policy) from 
the University of Hull, UK. He has served 
as a government appointed member 
of the Board since 13th June 2008 
and was subsequently re-elected to the 
Bank’s Board by the public shareholders 
on 07th August 2009, 30th October 
2010 and again on 10th August 2011. 
Mr. Ahmed holds 30 shares in the Bank.

Mr. Ahmed Mohamed resigned from the 
Board during February 2012, with his 
appointment as the Minister of Economic 
Development.

FORMER DIRECTORS
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Executive Team

Mr. Peter Horton
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Peter Horton joined the Bank in February 2011. He started his banking career 
in 1984 and has held key positions at various global and regional banks including 
Barclays and First Caribbean International Bank. He holds a Bachelor of Science in 
Financial Services (First Class Honours) and is an Associate of the Chartered Institute 
of Bankers (London).

Ms. Aishath Noordeen
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Aishath Noordeen joined the Bank in the year 1982 and has been serving 
the Board as a government appointed Director since 13th June 2008. She has a 
career spanning over 30 years in the banking industry and has served the Bank 
as the Acting Chief Executive Officer from 29th August 2010 till 04th April 2011, 
consequent to the resignation of the former Managing Director and CEO.

Mr. Lasantha Thennakoon
Finance Director

Mr. Lasantha Thennakoon joined the Bank in June 2010. He is a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (FCA), the Institute of Certified 
Management Accountants of Sri Lanka (ACMA), CPA Australia (CPA) and a certified 
Project Management Professional (PMP) of Project Management Institute, USA. He 
has over 15 years of experience in financial management, both locally and overseas. 
He holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA) and a Bachelor of Science in 
Accounting and Financial Management (First Class Honours).

Mr. Lucian Jayakody
Chief Internal Auditor

Mr. Lucian Jayakody joined the Bank in October 2006. He holds a Master of 
Business Administration (MBA), is a Certified Internal Auditor (CIA) USA and a 
Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA) USA. He is also an Associate of Charted 
Institute of Bankers London (ACIB) and holds an International Certificate in Banking 
Risk and Regulation (ICBRR)–GARP-USA. His experience in senior management 
positions in the financial sector extends to over 25 years.

Mr. Jayakody passed away on 07th April 2013.

Mr. Allan McFarlane
Retail Banking Director

Mr. Allan McFarlane joined the Bank in February 2012. He is an Associate Member 
of the Chartered Institute of Bankers (ACIB) and a Member of the Life Insurance 
Association (MLIA). He has over 29 years of experience in the banking industry 
and has served in key positions at various prestigious banks including Barclays and 
Santander/Bradford and Bingly.

Mr. Mohamed Shareef
Operations Director

Mr. Mohamed Shareef joined the Bank in August 1995. Mr. Shareef has over 
16 years of experience in banking and prior to his appointment to the position of 
Operations Director, he served the Bank as the Head of Card Centre. He is currently 
reading for his Master of Business Administration (MBA) in Finance via distance 
learning from the University of Manchester, UK.

Seated left to right:  Mr. Mohamed Shareef, Ms. Fathimath Manike, Mr. Peter Horton, Ms. Aminath Shaheen & Mr. Lassantha Thennakoon
Standing left to right:  Ms. Aishath Nasheeda, Ms. Ibthishama Ahmed Saeed, Mr. Lucian Jayakody, Ms. Aishath Noordeen,
  Mr. Allan McFarlane & Mr. Rifath Mohamed
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Ms. Fathimath Manike
Islamic Banking Director

Ms. Fathimath Manike joined the Bank in 1982. She has extensive knowledge and 
experience in the banking industry, gained through a career spanning over 30 years. 
She has previously served the Bank as an Assistant General Manager and oversaw 
departments such as Development Banking, Human Resources and Operations.

Ms. Aminath Shaheen
Risk Director

Ms. Aminath Shaheen joined the Bank in February 2002. She has held key positions 
at the Bank and gained invaluable experience in her 11 year career in roles such as 
Manager of Credit Department as well as Manager of Card Centre Operations. She 
holds a Master of International Business from the University of Auckland, New Zealand 
and a Bachelor’s degree in Marketing and Organisational Studies from the University 
of Lancaster, UK.

Mr. Rifath Mohamed
Marketing Director

Mr. Rifath Mohamed joined the Bank in August 2011. He is a Chartered Marketer and 
a Member of the Chartered Institute of Marketing (UK). He has 16 years of experience 
in field of marketing and holds a Post Graduate Diploma in Marketing from the 
Chartered Institute of Marketing (UK).

Ms. Aishath Nasheeda
Human Resources Director

Ms. Aishath Nasheeda joined the Bank in February 2009. She has substantial 
experience in management and project implementation and has a Master of Business 
Administration (MBA) from Charles Sturt University, Australia and a Bachelor’s degree 
from Edith Cowan University, Australia.

Ms. Ibthishama Ahmed Saeed
Corporate Banking Director

Ms. Ibthishama Ahmed Saeed joined the Bank in July 2003. She has 10 years 
of experience in the banking industry and holds a Master of Arts in Marketing 
Communication from University of Westminster, UK and a Bachelor of Commerce 
from Kerala University, India.
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Financial Review
 

Income
During the year under review, the Bank made a significant improvement in its Gross Income totaling to MVR1.35 billion. This is a 25.7% increase against the year 2011. The 
growth is mainly driven by fee based income line and recovery of non-performing loans.

Interest income for the year recorded at MVR637.6 million, a marginal decline of 0.9% compared to the year 2011 which is mainly due to the decline in interest on customer 
advances by 4%. Income from treasury operations, however, indicated a significant increase of 19% against the previous year. 

Net fee based income for the year accounted a record growth of 34% against the year 2011 mainly due to the net fee income on card operations. Income due to the recovery 
of non-performing loans also significantly improved during the year amounting to MVR235.8 million. 

Though customer deposits have gone up during the year, due to prudent deposit and liability management strategies implemented during the year, the Bank was able to record 
a 12% reduction in total Interest Expense, and the Net Interest Income reflected a growth of 3% against 2011, as a result.

Expenses
Total Operating Expenses (excluding loan loss provisions) recorded at MVR280.9 million, a marginal increase of 1%, against the previous year. Staff cost increased by 
MVR11.1million while other operating expenses indicated a reduction of MVR9.2 million. Premises, equipment and establishment expenses also recorded a marginal increase 
of MVR1 million against 2011.

Loan Loss Provisions
Since the Bank was able to meet the regulatory requirement relating to Loan Loss 
Provisions during the year 2011, the Bank was able to reduce its loan loss provision 
requirement during the year 2012 compared to the previous year. Accordingly, the 
Bank allocated MVR292.9 million as loan loss provisions during the year.

Asset and Liabilities
Total Assets for the year stood at MVR10.2 billion, reflecting an increase of 6.3% 
against 2011. Net Loans and Advances recorded at MVR5.1 billion, a marginal 
increase of 0.3%. Furthermore, due to prudent liquidity management including 
foreign currency management strategies implemented during the year, the Bank’s 
liquidity position – both domestic and foreign currency - indicated a significant 
improvement, and cash and short-term funds at the year-end accounted at MVR2.4 
billion, as a result. Following the revaluation exercise carried out by the Bank on its 
land and buildings, in line with International Accounting Standard 16, the Bank’s 
property plant and equipment position at the year-end increased to MVR207.3 
million from MVR84.4 million recorded in 2011.

The Bank’s deposit position at the year-end recorded at MVR7.9 billion, indicating 
a 5% increase against 2011, while borrowings that accounted at MVR636 million 
in 2012 fell by 34% against 2011, due to effective fund management strategies 
adopted by the Bank.

Shareholders’ Fund
Shareholders’ Funds at the year-end accounted at MVR1.2 billion, a record growth 
of 62% against the year 2011. A record growth in net operating earnings and the 
reduction in loan loss provision requirement have mainly attributed in building the 
Bank’s capital base. The Bank’s capital ratio is also improved to 20.56%, from 
13.21% recorded in 2011 which is significantly higher than the minimum regulatory 
requirement of 12%.

Future Outlook
Although the global economy remains on the mend, sluggish growth in advanced 
economies would have an impact on the smaller economies. Despite these 
challenges, the Maldivian economy is expected to show improved results during 
2013. The GDP forecast for 2013 is 4.3%, which is 0.9% above 2012 growth 
projection and achieving these results would depend on the various environmental 
factors both at national and global level. The Bank however expects to strengthen 
its operating and financial performance with the aim of maintaining its long term 
sustainability from the strategic perspective though the journey ahead remains 
challenging. 
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Tailoring Services to 
Meet Changing Needs of 
Customers
The transformation program leads Bank of Maldives to a fundamentally new direction; a business model that 
consistently puts the customer at the heart of all activities. This customer centric approach requires new thinking 
and greater understanding of customer insights to tailor products and services to the changing needs of 
customers.

Last year saw the launch and implementation of new initiatives to improve customer experience and to regain 
the trust as well as the hearts and minds of customers.

Redefining the Branch Concept 
With the aim of enhancing the customer experience, Bank of Maldives rolled out a completely new and 
refreshing banking experience targeting customers requiring low value transactions. Our newly opened branch 
BML Lite, is designed in a contemporary customer-friendly style with easy and quick access to services. This is 
the first branch in Maldives catering to a specific segment and is also the first branch to provide banking service 
6 days a week.

Under the new branch concept, the Bank also introduced state of the art deposit machines enabling customers 
to deposit Rufiyaa and US Dollar or cheques 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

Since its opening, the branch has been very popular among customers as a truly world class outlet providing 
excellent customer service.

Facilitating E-Banking to All Customers
During the year a special project was launched to improve internet banking experience and to increase 
e-banking usage among customers. Under the first phase of this project internet banking transaction limits were 
increased to encourage customers to make higher value transactions. During the same period, ATM withdrawal 
limits were also increased to encourage self-service banking.

As a strategic measure to improve customer experience and to increase e-banking penetration, the Bank 
decided to offer internet banking premium package free of charge and it was implemented on 1st January 
2013.

Integrating Customer Satisfaction with Performance 
Management 
In our efforts to restructure and reposition the Bank towards a more customer oriented organisation, three 
Customer Satisfaction Surveys were conducted during 2012. The objectives of the research included assessing 
the satisfaction levels of our customers, identifying the gaps where customer service was lacking and to 
measure the brand loyalty.

Based on the results of these surveys, customer satisfaction targets were given to all branches and it will 
be measured as part of annual performance review. To further improve the service levels and encourage 
competition among branches and departments, service excellence awards have also been introduced. These 
measures clearly demonstrates the Bank’s new direct and the commitment to provide excellent service to our 
customers.
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New Product Development
As part of the transformation program, Product Management function was 
introduced to develop new products and to tailor existing products to the changing 
needs of customers. The year saw major changes to the internet banking offering 
while new products such as Lui Express and Home Loan product was also 
developed.

Being a 100% Muslim country, there is huge demand for Islamic Banking products 
and services. To cater for this requirement Islamic Banking business plan was 
developed and the necessary preparatory work was also carried out during the 
year.

Leveraging Social Media
With the launch of official Facebook page and Twitter account, Bank of Maldives 
is demonstrating its commitment to be more engaging and transparent. The 
Facebook page was launched in August while the Twitter account was launched 
in October. Today we use these new media channels not only to get customer 
feedback but also as a customer service platform and it has been well received by 
our customers.

The Future
Service excellence is the no.1 priority of Bank of Maldives and we will continue to 
invest in people, systems and process until we are able to offer excellent service 
through all our touch points.

Engaging with customers to enhance their experience
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Fostering Community Growth and 
Enrichment
Bank of Maldives believes in its commitment to the community and aims to work for the betterment of the nation at all times. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) has been a 
vital part of the Bank’s success and for many years; CSR initiatives have been integrated into the core activities of the Bank. 

Our popular Dhoni Banking, including pension distribution is a clear example of our commitment to provide access to the banking services to the entire population.

Our CSR activities during the year 2012 were focused on the areas of community well-being, education, development and enrichment of the youth as well as towards facilitating 
developmental goals. 

Computer Education
Last year saw the opening of the first ever computer lab in Hithadhoo School in Addu 
City. The computer lab sponsored by Bank of Maldives was officially inaugurated by 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors, Dr. Abdullah Shiham Hassan in November 
2012. 

Community Well-Being
Bank of Maldives is committed to extending its effort to addressing social issues 
prevalent in the country. BML sponsored computer laboratory developed for the 
local NGO, Society for Women Against Drugs (SWAD) was inaugurated by MD and 
CEO, Mr. Peter Horton in May 2012. SWAD works for the prevention, intervention, 
aftercare and advocacy on the issue of abuse of illegal drugs among women in the 
country. 

Contributing to the Community
Bank of Maldives always takes pride in participating in key events in the country and 
makes contributions to social and community activities. Some of the contributions 
during the year are highlighted below.

 » During the year Bank of Maldives donated a state of the art HD projector and 
a project screen to Youth Centre. Youth Centre used these equipment’s to 
bring live matches of the Euro 2012 to the general public and since then it 
has been used to entertain the youth on a regular basis

 » BML was one of the key sponsors of the Fisherman’s Day official celebrations 
held in GA. Villigili on 10th December 2012. Fisherman’s Day was celebrated 
at national level with various sports and recreational activities to value the 
hard work and contribution to the economy by the fishermen and those 
engaged in the fishing industry

 » The Bank sponsored prizes for the 2012 National Quran Competition 
organised by Centre for Holy Quran with the aim of developing interest for 
Quran among children and encouraging them to memorize Quran

 » BML was an active partner in facilitating the fund set by the Ministry of Islamic 
Affairs for the development and maintenance of mosques across the nation. 
Bank of Maldives received Certificate of Appreciation from the Ministry for 
monitoring this fund

Fisherman’s Day celebrations at GA. Villingili sponsored by BML

BML supported Independence Day celebrations in Ari Atoll
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 » Bank of Maldives participated in Youth Challenge 2012 “Kissaru” held at ADh. 
Mahibadhoo last year. Youth Challenge is organised every year by Ministry 
of Youth and Sports as a career guidance opportunity for local youth by 
bringing together institutions, universities, and other private and state-owned 
organisations under one platform. Taking part in such a cause reiterates our 
commitment to give back to the community by attending to unemployment 
issues facing the youth today

 » The Bank was among the sponsoring partners in the atoll level activities 
organised to celebrate the Independence Day at Ari Atoll

 » Bank of Maldives was the main sponsor for the futsal tournament organised 
by the local Twitter community

Serving the Unbanked Population
In a country like the Maldives, cultivating a habit of having bank accounts is not a 
small challenge specially in islands where no branch exists. As part of its commitment 
to society, BML has extended the Bank’s services to villagers living in inaccessible 
rural areas across the nation, by visiting each and every inhabited island every month 
to provide them with banking services. 

Last year over 2000 trips were made by our staff not only to provide banking 
services to the masses but also to deliver pension allowances to the elderly 
population living in over 175 islands.
 
It shows the Bank’s commitment in facilitating the majority of the population to bank 
and save, thus helping the local communities to grow and prosper.

Futsal tournament organized by the local Twitter community supported by BML



.

On the Road to Transformation of 
Retail Banking 
Year 2012 ended with the conviction that the Bank is geared in the right direction in transforming Retail Banking with a customer centric focus. Introduction of a new branch 
brand concept, BML Lite, and cheque and cash deposit kiosks have been well received by our customers. In addition to designing new loan products during the year, a detail 
study on Dhoni Banking services offered through Atoll Branches was conducted to assess performance and develop a strategy to optimize service distribution whilst improving 
customer service.

BML Lite
The first branch of BML Lite was opened at STO Trade Centre on 8th November 
2012. The new branch is designated exclusively for personal banking customers and 
facilitates depositing of cash and cheques, withdrawal of cash from customer’s own 
accounts, six days a week. Initial survey on customer experience reflects positive 
feed back.

Introduction of Cash and Cheque Deposit Kiosks 
State of the art deposit machines introduced at our new BML Lite outlet have seen 
unprecedented demand. Available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, this service has 
become very popular among personal banking customers. 

Enhancing the Quality of Dhoni Banking Services 
We are continuosly exploring ways to increase access to banking for the entire nation 
by combination of technology and greater operational efficiencies during 2013.

Supporting the Growth of MSME Sector
BML plays a pivotal role in facilitating the growth and development of Micro, Small 
and Medium Enterprises (MSME) sector by way of easy access to finance through 
various Government and Donor Funded loan schemes. Credit to MSME sector 
has shown significant increase over the years with an approximately MVR58.64 
million (excluding student loans) loans from donor funds disbursed during the year 
for agricultural activities and private sector development projects which includes 
construction of guesthouses in inhabited islands and crafts industry.

Asian Development Bank (ADB) MSME 
Development Project
After successful implementation of the first project agreement signed in 2009 with 
ADB to provide credit to MSME sector where 86 loans amounting to USD3 million 
(MVR46 million) were disbursed in 2011 and 2012, a second project agreement 
for USD1.5 million (MVR23 million) has been signed during September 2012. 
The new scheme would provide credit to MSME sector with less stringent collateral 
requirement and concessionary interest rates ensuring greater participation from the 
MSME sector to achieve balanced, sustainable, more equitable and inclusive growth 
in the economy. Loans under the new project will be provided during 3rd quarter of 
2013.

MD & CEO speaks at the inauguration ceremony of our new retail outlet, BML Lite



26 / 27

.

Islamic Development Bank (IDB) for 
Microenterprise Development Project
The Islamic Development Bank will be making available a loan of ID6.87 
million (approximately equivalent to MVR10.3 million) as a 25 year loan to 
the Government for participation in financing of Microenterprise Development 
Project. This fund is expected to be utilized in 2013 which will significantly 
contribute to diversification of the economy by providing access to micro 
enterprises, promoting gender equality and financial empowerment of the 
community in the Atolls.

Kuwait Fund for Arab Economic 
Development for Development of 
Agricultural Sector
The loan scheme funded by Kuwait Goodwill Fund has paved way for 
MSME’s to access much needed finance on concessionary terms for 
development of the agricultural sector, especially female entrepreneurs 
engaged in farming. A total of 225 loans amounting to MVR24.1 million 
were dispersed during 2012. In addition to these loans, the Bank is also 
in the process of reviewing requests from farmers who were affected by a 
severe rainstorm in October 2012. 

National Student Loan Scheme (NSL) 
BML is the implementing agency on behalf of the Government of Maldives 
to manage and administer a fund designated to finance Maldivian students 
who wish to continue their education both locally as well as abroad. As at the 
end of December 2012, 1583 loans amounting to approximately MVR66.7 
million has been disbursed since 2010. 

Chief Guest, the Governor of MMA being briefed on the operational aspects of newly 
installed cash and cheque deposit  kiosks at the inaugration function of BML Lite
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Customised Financial Solutions for 
Corporate Customers
During 2012 Corporate Banking successfully embedded Relationship Banking. 
This has since enabled the Bank to gain complete coverage of lines of business of 
major corporates and work towards cross channel integration providing a consistent 
customer experience through a single point of contact. 

We now have an experienced strong and dedicated team in place and this now 
gives us the excellent platform to continue to build a Corporate Banking offering that 
makes BML the preferred choice for the Maldivian Business Community. We see an 
offering built around:-

 » Accessibility

 » Expertise 

 » Solutions led

 » Ease of doing business

During the year we continued to support the business community through offering 
a wide range of corporate and commercial banking products and services. Such 
initiatives amongst others relate to:-

 » Continued support of the resort sector through ongoing working capital, new 
development funding and acquisition finance

 » Ongoing support to the construction industry providing financial solutions 
including construction related guarantees, construction loans and 
infrastructure project finance

 » Through a more proactive approach and in close partnership with the 
International Banking Team we have continued to support trade finance 

activity for businesses in Malé and across the atolls

 » A dedicated Transaction Banking Unit has been established to allow us 
to increase the offering to corporate customers in respect to of their daily 
banking and cash management needs

As part of improving the Bank’s Corporate Banking proposition we are anticipating 
that during 2013 the following will be available to our Corporate Clients:-

 » Enhanced corporate internet banking with improved functionality and access 
controls

 » Significantly upgraded credit and acquiring platform

 » Bulk cash facilities in Malé

 » Project financing solutions

 » Further development and growth of our relationship offering

Corporate Banking represents a key part of the Bank’s balance sheet and yet, largely 
due to the NPNA problem, performance has been depressed. During 2012 we are 
pleased to report on improvement in performance and believe that as we progress 
the initiatives currently underway the results from this part of the business will 
continue to improve significantly. 

Our experienced team of Relationship Managers offers solutions best suited for Corporate Clients
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Strengthening the Risk Management 
Culture 

Credit Risk Management
With the Maldivian economy heavily geared towards tourism, it has always been 
a challenge to limit high concentration of the Bank’s exposure in this sector, and 
diversify the loan portfolio. The effective management of credit risk is a critical 
component of a comprehensive approach to risk management and essential to 
the long-term success of the Bank, with lending as our core business. Roles and 
responsibilities have been refined to ensure strong segregation of duties with 
functional units handling loan origination, and separate centralised credit risk control 
function. Initiatives continue to enhance and improve policies, processes, and 
systems for properly monitoring and managing credit risk, results of which will be 
effectively seen throughout the coming year.

Delinquency Management & Recoveries
As a step towards strengthening the asset quality of the Bank’s portfolio by 
minimizing loan losses and optimizing return on investment, processes were 
implemented to identify and centrally monitor accounts with higher likelihood 
of default, so that proper action is taken at the right time to minimize adverse 
classification of accounts. Specialized teams worked continuously towards recovery 
of accounts which have already been classified as non-performing, through 
delinquency management measures, focused collection efforts, restructuring 
wherever feasible, and legal proceedings when no other options are available. 
Recoveries measures were challenged due to the difficult economic conditions 
and political instability during the year; however substantial progress was made in 
recovering some long standing bad debts, as well as limiting new defaults.
 

Managing Operational Risk Effectively 
The operational risk function oversees the management of operational risk across 
the Bank through a framework of policies, procedures and controls. The function 
is further strengthened by Internal Audit, which independently reviews all functional 
areas and report directly to the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the 
Board. Operational risk areas in different business units were identified from audit 
reports, and work was done to address such areas of weakness by closely working 
with business units. Substantial work was also done on identifying and quantifying 
probable loss events, to help address and manage operational risks effectively. 

Ensuring Regulatory Compliance 
In order to strengthen the Bank’s efforts in meeting compliance requirement and 
managing non-compliance risk, a separate Compliance Unit was formed under the 
Operational Risk and Compliance Department. The Unit took over all compliance 
matters with a focused strategy on increasing awareness of non-compliance risks, 
promoting a strong compliance discipline across all functional areas, and ensuring 
regulatory compliance.

Market Risk & Liquidity Risk Management
This is managed by the Bank’s Treasury unit under the Finance Division, with daily 
monitoring of key market risk and liquidity risk indicators, and weekly meetings of 
the Bank’s Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO). The treasury also 
undertakes the responsibility of maintaining the Bank’s minimum reserve requirement 
on a daily basis, periodic review of counterparty bank exposure limits, and manage 
both domestic and foreign currency funding positions. Stress testing of underlying 
parameters is done on regular basis to ensure capital adequacy and appropriate 
liquidity levels at all times. 

During 2012 we made significant progress to embedding a more holistic Risk Management approach to our business. In addition to Credit Risk Management, our Central Risk 
function is responsible for all the Recoveries work, Operational Risk, Market and Liquidity Risk and Regulatory Compliance.

Risk and uncertainties form an inherent part of banking, and Bank of Maldives has made considerable progress in addressing the management of risk through gradual 
implementation of a strong risk culture whereby risks are properly identified and effectively managed.

BML staff engaged in valuation of collateral offered as mortgage
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A Productive Workforce for a Great 
Customer Experience
The Bank recognizes people as the key resource driving the success of the business and a great employee experience is essential to deliver value to customers. With this in 
mind the Bank’s Human Resource Transformation Program was implemented with a major focus on training and development, and a performance management system to 
assess employee productivity. The initial results of the HR transformation program is promising with our highly talented and energetic team contributing towards the improved 
profitability achieved during the year, strengthening the position of the Bank as the leading financial institution in the Maldives. 

Revision of the Organisational Structure
A key component of the transformation program initiated in 2011 was the revision of 
the organisational structure of the Bank to form a cascading structure. The process 
has been completed to a large extent during 2012 with keys posts filled by highly 
competent individuals.

Performance Management for Improved 
Productivity
Successful introduction of Performance Management was one of the strategic 
priorities identified for 2012. The new Performance Management System was 
introduced in 2011 and the first phase of the implementation has been successfully 
completed during 2012. The new system was introduced and implemented with the 
consultation of Hunter Roberts of UK. 

The new Performance Management System identifies the roles and responsibilities 
of each employee in achieving the strategic objective of the Bank via an interactive 
process between the Management and employee. Training needs are identified 
via the process and regular review throughout the year ensures identification and 
reinforcing the best aspects of performance behaviour of employees and taking 
additional measures where necessary to achieve goals.

Building a Highly Skilled Team
Building a highly talented and resilient team that is ready to meet the dynamic 
business environment is one of the Bank’s strategic priorities. New graduates were 
recruited during 2012 to fill various positions created under the revised organisation 
structure; graduate position increased to 9.9% (80 staff). As at year end, there 
were 812 employees working at the Bank where, 28% of them work at the Bank’s 
branches in the atolls.

In-house Training for Capacity Building
In 2012 a number of measures were taken to reform the training framework of BML. 
In this respect, Learning and Development Department replaced the previous Training 
Department and a new Training Academy was formed to conduct in-house training. 
Two permanent trainers were recruited as internal trainers for BML Training Academy.
Great emphasis was placed on skills development of BML Team. The year started 
with two major trainings; Performance Management and Enhancing the Customer 
Experience. Performance Management Training was conducted for all employees, 
while over 600 staff attended customer experience training. Other in-house trainings 
include train-the-trainer program on performance management, induction for new 
employees, Dhivehi language skills, Microsoft Excel, Anti-Money Laundering and 
training on Fundamentals of Islamic Banking. 

Training at Local Institutions
A total of 29 employees participated in 6 training programs organised by local 
institutions including Capital Market Development Authority and Housing Development 
Finance Corporation PLC.

Overseas Training / Seminars
During the year, 27 staff participated in 18 short term training programs/seminars 
conducted in various countries such as Sri Lanka, India, Malaysia, Singapore, 
Philippines and the United Kingdom. The areas of trainings include, credit risk 
management, operational risk, fraud and forensic auditing, Islamic finance, trade 
finance, financial reporting, capital adequacy, card security and performance 
management. 

BML team in celebration of the 30th anniversary of the Bank
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Graduate Training Program
During the year the Bank welcomed 7 staff returning after completing their 
undergraduate degrees in the field of Banking and Finance (6 staff) and Mass 
Communication (1 staff) under scholarships by the Bank. The Bank also welcomed 
3 more staff who returned after completing Bachelors’ degree and 1 staff after 
completing Master’s degree, under Bank’s Study Leave program. Study Leave 
opportunities to 2 staff to undertake Master’s degree program were also provided 
during 2012. 

The Annual Managers’ Conference
Annual Managers Conference was held during November 2012 where all Division 
Directors, Department Heads, Unit Managers and 26 branches were represented. 
The annual conference serves as a much needed forum to review current business 
highlights as well as brainstorming on key strategic priorities of the Bank. In addition 
to discussions on the transformation program and the Bank’s strategic objectives for 
2013, presentations on Performance Management, Islamic Banking, Compliance, 
Marketing and Operations were delivered by the respective Divisions. 

Additionally, a week of meetings and workshops targeted for Branch Managers were 
also held during November 2012 with the aim to improve knowledge and facilitate 
constructive discussion on Bank’s overall business strategies and future prospects 
for growth. 

Recreational Activities to Enhance Staff 
Relationships
As part of the recreational activities, a football tournament titled The BML Cup 
was organised for employees. In addition BML team also participated in national 
sports events such as 2nd Inter-office Carom Championship, Club Maldives Futsal 
Tournament and Inter/office Volleyball Tournament.

Other HR Highlights of 2012
The new Employee Handbook and the Disciplinary and Grievance Procedure were 
implemented during the year. The Human Resources Portal was upgraded and 
payroll management was automated. In October 2012, the BML Branded T-shirt 
Uniform was introduced. 

Going Forward
Developing organisational leadership bench strength is a key area of focus in our 
human resource transformation program. In addition, strengthening Performance 
Management, employee retention and motivation will also be key areas of 
consideration for 2013. Additionally, the Bank will continue to invest substantially on 
training and development of employees.

Performance Management Appraisal training in progress
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During 2012 we continued the work of establishing a strong Operations Division to 
support the business in fulfilling its strategic objectives. Operations encompasses 
Procurement, IT, Central Processing, Administration and Card Operations. 

The twin priorities have been to drive out operational efficiencies and excellence and 
at the same time support the Bank’s customer centric focus.

Some of the key highlights during 2012 in Operations are:

 » Back office operations were centralised removing back office work and 
allowing the branches to be far more focused customer service centres. In 
this regard, account opening, cheque book issuance and loan processing 
services were centralised

 » Cash handling processes were reviewed to improve efficiency in cash 
movement for branch requirements and ATM replenishment. Additionally, 
modern cash processing equipment is being procured to automate cash 
handling which will significantly improve delivery time, ensure integrity of 
cash handling and minimize risk of transaction error or frauds. This project is 
expected to be implemented during 2013

 » Account opening documents were re-designed to make them more 
user-friendly, whilst improving customer due diligence to meet regulatory 
requirements. Account opening and cheque book handling procedures were 
revised to improve and align process flow of central processing

 » Our new BML Lite branch has provided an excellent platform to drive 
operational improvements to the business. Included in this is the desktop 
virtualization programme which is now being rolled out across the business. 
Virtualization provides power efficiency and manageability. Real Time 
Gross Settlement Service (RTGS) and Automated Clearing House (ACH) 
process has been fully implemented improving efficiency in electronic funds 
movement

 » New ATM’s / additional POS terminals – POS in every inhabited island

Optimizing in Business Processes Through 
Technology
BML has always been at the forefront of technology in the country and following this 
tradition, the IT transformation program was launched in 2012 with the objective of 
improving the Bank’s operational efficiency and competitive ability in the industry. 

 » An upgrade of card management system and internet banking is underway 
and expected to be completed during 2013 which will improve service 
delivery and further strengthen our foothold in the market as the most 
preferred card acquirer and issuer and e-banking service provider

 » A study on the core banking system was conducted to assess the impact 
on financial performance of the Bank with the view to modernise core 
systems to cater for the new business model launched in 2011. A request 
for proposal (RFP) was issued, proposals were received and the process of 
selecting a core banking vendor is in progress. The upgrade of core banking 
will commence during 2013

 » The Bank developed a software for Dhoni Banking which is designed to 
improve efficiency of this service in the atolls

 » Management Information System (MIS) has been upgraded allowing 
Management access to information more timely and well informed decisions 
relative to the business performance

Acknowledgements
The Bank won the JP Morgan Elite Quality Recognition Award for the excellence of 
its international funds transfer processing. This prestigious recognition of excellence 
places BML in the top 1% of JP Morgan’s funds transfer clients worldwide, a 
testimony that our centralised international banking operations continues to maintain 
quality and best practice standards.

The level and pace of change undertaken by the Operations Division is only possible 
due to the hard work and dedication of the entire operations team. The role of our 
people is something highly appreciated and acknowledged.

Transformation Through Operational 
Excellence

Our IT team constantly monitors BML’s servers to ensure uninterrupted customer service
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Highlights of the 
30th Anniversary 
Celebrations

Bank of Maldives celebrated 30 years of service on 11th November 2012. 

The official event to celebrate the 30th anniversary was held at Dharubaaruge on 1st 
December 2012. The President of Maldives, His Excellency Dr. Mohamed Waheed 
Hassan graced the occasion as the chief guest and the keynote speaker. High profile 
dignitaries, representatives of the state, BML partners, customers and staff were also 
invited to this colourful event. 

A special highlight of the event was to recognize the work and loyalty of long serving 
employees. Long Service Awards were given to 65 staff in recognition of their 
unrelenting service to the Bank. Chief Guest President Dr. Mohamed Waheed Hassan 
awarded special trophies and certificates to four staff who has served the Bank for the 
last thirty years. At the event, the President also launched the new CSR initiatives of 
the Bank.

To improve staff engagement and motivation, six Staff Awards were also introduced at 
the official event. These awards includes Chairman’s Award for Employee of the Year, 
Best Leader Award, Rising Star Award, Exceptional Customer Service Award, Best 
Team Award and CEO’s Award for Community Service. 
.
The continued contribution of our staff is both appreciated and valued by the Bank. 
Acknowledging this and the role each and every member of our team fulfills, we had a 
special staff event in Kuda Bandos to mark our Anniversary. Over 480 staff joined the 
team building programs held. 

BML 30th Anniversary celebration - Light Show

BML 30th Anniversary celebration - special staff event in Kuda Bandos

BML 30th Anniversary celebration - Official Event
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Directors’ Report
Board Composition
According to Article 47 of Articles of Association of the Bank, the Bank’s Board of 
Directors comprises of a total of 11 directors, from which 08 directors are nominated 
by the Government and elected by the shareholders whilst the remaining 03 directors 
are elected by the General Public Shareholders. Furthermore, pursuant to Articles 
79 and 80, the Chairman and the Managing Director is also appointed by the Board 
of Directors from among the elected directors nominated by the Government. This 
composition falls in line with the Maldives Banking Act (24/2010), which came into 
force on 12th December 2010.

In compliance with Corporate Governance Code of Capital Market Development 
Authority (CMDA), the Board of Directors of the Bank exemplifies a mix of Executive, 
Non-Executive and Independent Directors so that the Board of Directors of the Bank 
is capable of providing equitable, competent and effective guidance for the Bank and 
upholding an environment of good governance. The Board of Directors encompass a 
range of talents, skills and expertise required to provide sound and prudent guidance 
with respect to the operations and interests of the Bank.

The year 2012 began with the following members in the Board of Directors of the 
Bank.

1. Dr. Abdullah Shiham Hassan
Chairman

Government Nominee, Independent & Non-
Executive

2. Mr. Peter Horton
Managing Director & CEO

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & 
Executive

3. Ms. Aishath Noordeen
Deputy CEO

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & 
Executive

4. Mr. Hassan Muzni Mohamed Government Nominee, Independent & Non-
Executive

5. Mr. Mohamed Jaish Ibrahim Government Nominee, Non-Independent & 
Non-Executive

6. Ms. Nuha Mohamed Riza Government Nominee, Independent & Non-
Executive

7. Mr. Adam Azim Government Nominee, Non-Independent & 
Non-Executive

8. Mr. Hussain Shaheem Government Nominee, Independent & Non-
Executive

9. Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar Elected by Public Shareholders, Independent 
& Non-Executive

10. Mr. Ahmed Mohamed Elected by Public Shareholders, Independent 
& Non-Executive

11. Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed Elected by Public Shareholders, Independent 
& Non-Executive

During February 2012, Mr. Ahmed Mohamed, resigned with his appointment as 
Minister of Economic Development. With this change the Board’s strength reduced to 
10. As the Board of Directors of the Bank is to comprise 11 members, the quorum 
required for the Board meetings as stipulated in Section 15(g) of the Maldives 
Banking Act (24/2010) is 09 members, which is three fourth (3⁄4) of the entire 
Board. Nevertheless the meetings of the Board were continuously held during the 
year 2012; the Board of Directors under its discretionary powers as provided for 
in Article 65 and 66 of the Articles of Association of the Bank formed an Executive 
Committee of the Board comprising of all Board members and delegated certain 
powers of the Board to the Executive Committee to ensure continuity in business.

During the 29th Annual General meeting held on 08th November 2012, the Board 
was re-constituted with the following Directors:-

1. Dr. Abdullah Shiham Hassan
Chairman

Government Nominee, Independent & 
Non-Executive

2. Mr. Peter Horton
Managing Director & CEO

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & 
Executive

3. Ms. Aishath Noordeen
Deputy CEO

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & 
Executive

4. Mr. Mohamed Jaish Ibrahim Government Nominee, Non-Independent & 
Non-Executive

5. Mr. Adam Azim Government Nominee, Non-Independent & 
Non-Executive

6. Mr. Hassan Shameem Government Nominee, Independent & 
Non-Executive

7. Dr. Ismail Shafeeu Government Nominee, Independent & 
Non-Executive

8. Mr. Abdulla Naseem Government Nominee, Independent & 
Non-Executive

9. Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar Elected by Public Shareholders, 
Independent & Non-Executive

10. Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed Elected by Public Shareholders, 
Independent & Non-Executive

11. Ms. Fathimath Niuma Elected by Public Shareholders, 
Independent & Non-Executive
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Frequency of Meetings
Regular Board meetings were held at least once a month, while exceptional Board meetings were convened whenever necessary. 

The Board of Directors held 22 meetings from 01st January 2012 to 31st December 2012 and the attendance for the meetings is depicted below:

Directors No. of meetings to attend No. of meetings attended %

Dr. Abdullah Shiham Hassan 22 22 100%

Mr. Peter Horton 22 21 95%

Ms. Aishath Noordeen 22 22 100%

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar 22 21 95%

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed 22 21 95%

Mr. Mohamed Jaish Ibrahim 22 18 82%

Mr. Hassan Muzni Mohamed 18 15 83%

Ms. Nuha Mohamed Riza 18 16 89%

Mr. Adam Azim 22 18 82%

Mr. Hussain Shaheem 18 14 78%

Mr. Ahmed Mohamed 02 02 100%

Dr. Ismail Shafeeu 04 03 75%

Mr. Hassan Shameem 04 04 100%

Mr. Abdulla Naseem 04 04 100%

Ms. Fathimath Niuma 04 04 100%

The Executive Committee of the Board held 06 meetings during the year 2012 and attendance is as follows:

Directors No. of meetings to attend No. of meetings attended %

Dr. Abdullah Shiham Hassan 06 06 100%

Mr. Peter Horton 06 05 83%

Ms. Aishath Noordeen 06 06 100%

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar 06 05 83%

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed 06 04 67%

Mr. Mohamed Jaish Ibrahim 06 04 67%

Mr. Hassan Muzni Mohamed 04 01 25%

Ms. Nuha Mohamed Riza 04 04 100%

Mr. Adam Azim 06 03 50%

Mr. Hussain Shaheem 04 03 75%

Dr. Ismail Shafeeu 02 01 50%

Mr. Abdulla Naseem 02 02 100%

Mr. Hassan Shameem 02 02 100%

Ms. Fathimath Niuma 02 02 100%

Relationship with Shareholders and Customers
The Bank ensures that all the necessary facilities and information are made available 
to the shareholders and its customers to enable them to exercise their rights and to 
ascertain that an exceptional relationship with the shareholders and customers are 
maintained.

In this regard, important developments including quarterly financials of the Bank, 
announcements and notices are displayed in the Bank’s website for the information 
of the Shareholders and the General Public. Additionally, notices for General Meetings 
along with a brief summary of procedures governing voting at the General Meetings 
is made available to the Shareholders 21 days in advance to the General Meeting. 
The minutes of the 29th Annual General Meeting held on 08th November 2012 was 
published on the Bank’s website on 23rd April 2013 for shareholders’ comments. 
The Corporate Affairs Department of the Bank handles all matters related to the 
shareholders. The Board of Directors and the Management of the Bank always 
welcomes active participation from the Shareholders at the General Meetings and 
solicits their views at all times. 

Financial Reporting
The Bank publishes the Annual Accounts prepared in accordance with Maldives 
Monetary Authority (MMA) Regulations and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) with comprehensive disclosures, enabling both existing and 
prospective Shareholders to make a timely and fair assessment of the Bank’s 
performance and prospects. The Bank, on quarterly basis, has been disclosing its 
financials in the website.

Employees
As the employees are the most valuable asset of an organisation, the Management 
and the Board of Directors of the Bank considers maintaining productivity and staff 
motivation as one of the key priorities. Accordingly during the year 2012, the Bank 
implemented a new Performance Management System where every employee was 
given individual targets which facilitated in achieving overall business objectives. 
Furthermore, it enabled the performance of the employees to be reviewed fairly and 
constructively. 
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The Bank attempts to provide its employees with competitive and attractive 
remuneration packages and a secure working environment in addition to providing 
necessary local and international trainings for all deserving and eligible candidates. As 
such the Board of Directors discussed and approved the following to further enhance 
the human resources. 

 » Approval of BML’s Group Health Insurance Policy
 The Board of Directors on 30th January 2012 approved BML’s Group 

Health Insurance Policy via a circular board resolution as recommended by 
the Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

 » Approval of Employee Handbook
 The Board of Directors in their 493rd meeting held on 23rd May 2012 

approved the Employee Handbook of the Bank as recommended by 
the Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the 
Board. Following the approval of the Employee Handbook the working 
hours of the Bank changed from 08:30 to 16:30 hours. Subsequently 
as recommended by the Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee amendments to the Employee Handbook was approved by the 
Board of Directors in its 502nd meeting held on 14th October 2012.

 » Revision of Provident Fund Rules
 During the year, the Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee recommended to revise the Provident Fund Rules of the Bank. 
As such it was approved by the Board of Directors in their 502nd meeting 
held on 14th October 2012.

 » Revision of Staff Dress Code Policy
 With the aim of making the staff dress code of the Bank more presentable 

and professional, the revised Staff Dress Code Policy was approved 
by the Board of Directors during their 502nd meeting held on 14th 
October 2012 as recommended by the Appointment, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of the Board.

Selection of Firm for Consultancy Services 
Related to Setting Up Islamic Banking Window
As part of the Business Transformation Plan, it was agreed to establish an Islamic 
Banking Window with the aim of increasing the product offerings to our customers. 
In order to successfully establish an Islamic Banking Window, BML required the 
professional guidance from experts in the field to provide consultancy and support 
services. Consequently, the Board of Directors in its 498th meeting held on 18th 
July 2012 approved to appoint a firm to provide consultancy services to the Bank to 
establish an Islamic Banking Window.

Nomination for the Board of Directors of the 
Asian Bankers Association (ABA)
The Executive Committee of the Board of Directors in its 364th meeting held on 
19th September 2012 resolved to nominate Mr. Peter Horton, Managing Director 
and Chief Executive Officer of the Bank to represent Bank of Maldives in the Board of 
the Asian Bankers Association (ABA) as Bank of Maldives was nominated for a seat 
in the Board of Directors of ABA. ABA is an association among banks across Asia 
and BML is the first bank in the Maldives to become a member.

Corporate Governance
Compliance with Corporate Governance Code of Capital Market Development 
Authority (CG Code);

 » The audited accounts prepared in accordance with the International 
Accounting Standards were made available to shareholders and other 
stakeholders

 » To ensure firm adherence to good corporate governance practices as stated 
in the CG Code, the Bank abides by Corporate Governance Code of Bank of 
Maldives PLC

 » The Audit and Risk Management Committee was reconstituted in the 505th 
meeting of the Board of Directors held on 09th November 2012

 » The Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee was 
reconstituted in the 505th meeting of the Board of Directors held on 09th 
November 2012

 » Performance Assessment of individual directors and of the Board as a whole 
are conducted on an annual basis

 » The Bank was unable to publish its Annual Report for the year 2011 and 
convene its Annual General Meeting within the stipulated time frame and a 
total fine of MVR96,000.00 was imposed for this delay by Maldives Stock 
Exchange as per clause 8.1.1 of the Listing Rules. Additionally, in accordance 
to clause 17 of Securities (Continuing Disclosure Obligations of Issuers) 
Regulation of Capital Market Development Authority, the Bank was imposed 
a fine of MVR30,000.00 for the delay in publishing the Annual Report within 
the time frame determined under clause 5 of the said regulation

 » To ensure compliance with best practice, 02 members of the Bank’s Senior 
Management were appointed as Executive Directors of the Bank’s Board

Overall Duties of the Board
The overall duties of the Board are:

 » Providing control and direction to the Bank, including providing apex level 
leadership and setting strategic aims / objectives for the Bank in conjunction 
with the Management

 » Deliberating on the Business Plan and the Annual Budget for the Bank

 » Reviewing the business and financial performance of the Bank measured 
against the Business Plan and the Annual Budget on a quarterly basis

 » Ensuring the establishment of effective internal controls within the Bank which 
will enable risks to be assessed, managed and monitor the effectiveness of 
such internal controls

 » Ensuring that the Bank has adequate human resources to meet the objectives 
of the Bank

 » Ensuring that obligations to shareholders and other stakeholders are 
understood and met

 » Ensuring that the Bank complies with all relevant laws and regulations, 
including the Corporate Governance Code and other codes of best practices

In order to fulfil the aforementioned duties or any other function that the Board 
is obliged to adhere to, the Board may responsibly delegate its authorities to the 
most suitable subcommittee(s) of the Board, Corporate Management, external 
professional(s), consultant(s) or to any such party or parties that the Board deems fit 
to be for the best interests of the Bank. 
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Responsibility Statement
The Board of Directors hereby certifies that;

 » The relevant accounting standards were considered and followed all through 
the preparation of Bank’s Annual Accounts with proper explanations relating 
to material departures

 » The Board selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently 
and made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as 
to give a fair and true view of the state of affairs

 » It has taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of Companies Act of 
the Republic of Maldives (Law no. 10/96), Maldives Banking Act (Law no. 
24/2010), Prudential Regulations issued by the Maldives Monetary Authority 
for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and preventing and detecting frauds 
and other irregularities, Maldives Securities Act (Law no. 02/2006), the 
Listing Rules and Securities (Continuing Disclosure Obligations of Issuers) 
Regulations 2010 issued by the Capital Market Development Authority

 » It has followed the Corporate Governance Code issued by the Capital Market 
Development Authority and

 » All statements and accounts were prepared on a going-concern basis

 » There were no unexpired service contracts within one year without payment 
of compensation of any director proposed for election

 » The borrowings of the Bank as at the end of the accounting period are 
represented as follows:

(In ‘000 MVR)

Not later than 1 year 102,622,317

Between 1 to 2 years 102,774,917

Between 2 to 3 years 107,614,937

Over 3 years 323,003,960

 » The Bank’s Total Liabilities for the comparative year are:

(In ‘000 MVR)

2011 8,797,132,178

2012 8,922,484,898

 » The Board of Directors affirms that there are no other interests of the 
Directors of the Bank except those disclosed in this report and the 
accompanying financial statements. Please refer notes to the financials, page 
no. 84 for details on related party transactions

 » The Board of Directors further affirms that no major events have occurred 
since the balance sheet date, except as disclosed in the financial statements
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Audit and Risk Management 
Committee Report
The Audit Committee was established in accordance with Article 69 of the Articles of Association of the Bank and Section 1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code issued 
on 23rd March 2008 by the Capital Market Development Authority, with a membership of three. Subsequent to the review of the Bank’s organisation chart during 2009, a 
risk function was incorporated into the terms of reference of the Committee and renamed as Audit and Risk Management Committee. With the increased scope of work, the 
membership of the Committee was increased to 5 members.

Objectives of the Committee
The purpose of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its overall responsibility relating to:

(a) The integrity of the Bank’s financial statements and financial reporting process and the Bank’s systems of internal accounting and financial controls
(b) The adequacy of the internal audit function, including reviewing the scope and results of audits carried out in respect of the operations of the Bank
(c) The annual independent audit of the Bank’s financial statements
(d) The engagement of the external auditors and the evaluation of the external auditors’ qualifications, independence, objectivity, and performance; and
(e) The compliance by the Bank with legal and regulatory requirements, including the Bank’s disclosure requirements controls and procedures
(f) Review of reports to be submitted to the Maldives Monetary Authority

Composition and Frequency of Meetings
The year 2012 commenced with the following members in the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee of the Board. 

Attendance of members from 01st January 2012 to 08th November 2012 is as 
follows-

Directors

No. of meetings

to attend attended

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed
Chairperson of the Committee
Non-Executive & Independent

32 32

Mr. Ahmed Mohamed
Non-Executive & Independent

3 2

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar
Non-Executive & Independent

32 27

Mr. Adam Azim
Non-Executive & Non-Independent

32 24

Ms. Nuha Mohamed Riza
Non-Executive & Independent

32 22

Mr. Hassan Muzni Mohamed
Non-Executive & Independent

29 16

Following the resignation of Mr. Ahmed Mohamed from the Board on 12th February 
2012, Mr. Hassan Muzni Mohamed was appointed as a member of the Committee.
The Committee was re-constituted following the 29th AGM in the 505th meeting of 
the Board held on 9th November 2012. Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed was re-appointed 
as the Chairperson of the Committee in the 117th meeting held on 18th November 
2012. 

The members of the Committee and their attendance from 9th November 2012 to 
31st December 2012 are as follows:-

Directors

No. of meetings

to attend attended

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed
Chairperson of the Committee
Non-Executive & Independent

8 8

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar
Non-Executive & Independent

8 7

Mr. Adam Azim
Non-Executive &Non- Independent

8 3

Mr. Abdulla Naseem
Non-Executive & Independent

8 8

Ms. Fathimath Niuma
Non-Executive & Independent

8 8

During the reporting year 2012, the Committee reviewed and followed up on issues 
raised through the Whistle Blowing System, which strengthened the internal controls 
of the Bank. 

The Committee further undertook the following tasks during the year:

 » Reviewed the minutes of the 28th Annual General Meeting of the Bank held 
on 10th August 2011

 » Reviewed the Internal Audit Plan for the year 2012 and highlighted the main 
areas of concern

 » Reviewed the Quarterly Internal Audit Reports

 » Reviewed the Quarterly Financial Reports

 » Reviewed the special audit of the procurement section

 » Reviewed and Approved the Audited Financials of the Bank for the year 2011

 » Met with the External Auditors to discuss the audit plan prior to initiating the 
audit to assess the progress and assist wherever necessary in the Annual 
Audit

 » Reviewed the Budget for the year 2013 with a view to minimize expenses
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Internal Controls
To further reinforce the internal control mechanism of the Bank, the Committee with the assistance of the Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) and the Internal Audit Department (IAD), 
reviewed the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal controls, which includes financial, operational, and compliance controls, and procedures for identification, assessment and 
reporting of risks. In this regard the Committee had discussions with the Management and appropriate guidelines were drawn up.

The IAD reports directly to the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board. As per the approved Audit Plan, the CIA reported to the Committee on a quarterly basis. 
Action points were highlighted and conveyed to the Management for strategizing and implementation to enable a more risk free environment.
 

External Audit
Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers was confirmed as the Bank’s external auditor pursuant to the decision of the 29th Annual General Meeting. Prior to initiation of the audit, the 
Committee met with the External Auditors to discuss the Audit Plan for 2012 and the concerns emphasized in the previous year’s Management Letter. Throughout the period of 
audit the Committee had discussions with External Auditors to address issues related to the audit. 

During the year 2012, the External Auditors have not provided any non-audited services.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 

Ibrahim Mohamed
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
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Appointment, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee Report
The year commenced with the 05th Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee (ANR Committee) constituted after the 28th Annual General Meeting. The 06th 
ANR Committee was reconstituted following the 29th Annual General Meeting and in the 505th Meeting of the Board of Directors held on 09th November 2012, in accordance 
with Article 54 and 63 of the Articles of Association of the Bank and Section 1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code issued by Capital Market Development Authority (CMDA). 
The Committee performs the functions of both a Nominating Committee and a Remuneration Committee. It was combined as the Board felt that the requires functions of these 
two Committees would be better undertaken by on Committee in view of the scope, functions and expertise of the members of the Board.

The purpose of the ANR Committee is to establish and recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration packages of Directors and the Executive Management. 
With respect to appointment and nomination issues, the Committee identifies and makes recommendations on Board appointments and conducts annual review of Board’s 
performance and needs. The Committee also undertakes tasks which affect the staff across the business including and not limited to review of Employees Handbook, salaries 
and benefits.

Major roles and responsibilities of the Committee stipulated under Article 54 of the Articles of Association of the Bank are:
(a) Identify and shortlist suitable candidates to be nominated by the Government as Independent Directors
(b) Identify suitable candidates who meet the requirements of Article 53 to be nominated by the Government for Board appointment or reappointment to ensure a 

suitable mix of Executive and Non-Executive members on the Board of Directors; in this regard, a minimum of 14 names must be recommended to the Government 
for consideration

(c) Review the qualifications and experience of candidates nominated to the Board prior to the General Meeting to ensure that the information provided to the 
Shareholders are accurate; and 

(d) Identify suitable candidates with sufficient banking qualification and experience to be nominated for appointment as the Managing Director of the Company by the 
Board of Directors pursuant to Article 80

Composition and Frequency of Meetings
The year 2012 commenced with the following 05 members in the 05th 
Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

Attendance of members from 01st January 2012 to 08th November 2012 is as 
follows:-

Directors

No. of meetings

To attend Attended

Mr. Ahmed Mohamed 
Chairperson of the Committee 
Non-Executive and Independent

2 1

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar
Chairperson of the Committee from 20th March 
2012
Non-Executive and Independent

25 24

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed 
Non-Executive & Independent 

27 27

Mr. Hussain Shaheem 
Non-Executive & Independent

27 22

Mr. Hassan Muzni Mohamed 
Non-Executive & Independent

27 21

Mr. Mohamed Jaish Ibrahim 
Non-Executive & Non-Independent

27 15

Mr. Ahmed Mohamed resigned from directorship of the Board on 12th February 
2012. As Mr. Ahmed Mohamed was the Chairperson of the Appointment, 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, following his resignation, Mr. Mohamed 
Abdul Sattar was appointed as Chairperson of the Committee.

After the 29th Annual General Meeting held on 08th November 2012 the Committee 
was reconstituted. The Members of the ANR Committee and their attendance for the 
period 09th November 2012 to 31st December 2012 is as follows:

Directors

No. of meetings

To attend Attended

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar 
Chairperson of the Committee 
Non-Executive and Independent

1 1

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed 
Non-Executive & Independent 

1 1

Dr. Ismail Shafeeu 
Non-Executive & Independent

1 1

Mr. Hassan Shameem 
Non-Executive & Independent

1 1

Mr. Mohamed Jaish Ibrahim 
Non-Executive & Non-Independent

1 1
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Remuneration
Directors were remunerated as per Article 63 of the Articles of Association of the Bank.

The following table depicts the breakdown of remuneration paid from 01st January 2012 to 31st December 2012 for the Board of Directors and the Key Management 
Personnel.

Remuneration Details Amount (MVR)

Board of Directors 1,446,133.00

Key Management 10,455,084.98

Board Evaluation 
Fostering good governance has been and continues to be a high priority of the Bank. An evaluation of individual Directors and an evaluation of the Board as a whole was 
conducted during the 03rd quarter of 2012 as mandated under the Corporate Governance Code of the Bank. The results of the evaluations were discussed by the Board 
Members.

Committee Activities
The Committee undertook the following tasks during the year:

 » Discussion on BML’s Group Health Insurance Policy 

 » Numerous discussions were held on revision of Increment Payment process for all employees of BML

 » Several discussions and approved to implement the Employee Handbook and Employee Contracts

 » Approved to implement the Redundancy Policy of the Bank

 » Revised the Staff Dress Code Policy

 » Revised the Staff Provident Fund Rules 

On behalf of the Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Mohamed Abdul Sattar
Chairperson of the Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee
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Income statement
 Year ended 31 December 

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa) Notes 2012 2011

Gross income 6  1,351,160,139  1,074,778,558 

Interest income and similar income 7  637,550,444  643,091,489 

Interest expense and similar charges 7  (146,506,095)  (165,713,350)

Net interest income 7  491,044,349  477,378,139 

Fee and commission income 8  364,729,354  286,345,131 

Fees and commission expenses 8  (131,657,781)  (112,350,425)

Net fees and commission income  233,071,573  173,994,706 

Dividend income 9  152,011 121,262

Net foreign exchange income  31,292,770  40,859,263 

Other operating income 10  317,435,560  104,361,413 

Operating income  1,072,996,263  796,714,783 

Less : Operating expenses
Staff costs 11  (167,632,945)  (156,564,947)

Premises, equipment and establishment expenses 12  (64,780,223)  (63,733,175)

Provision for bad and doubtful debts 13  (292,894,921)  (511,458,567)

Other operating expenses 14  (48,475,176)  (57,660,511)

Net profit before tax  499,212,999  7,297,583 

Bank profit tax expense 15  (124,737,349)  (7,297,583)

Net profit for the year  374,475,649  - 

Earnings per share - basic 17  69.58  - 
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Balance sheet
  As at 31 December

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa) Notes 2012 2011 
ASSETS

Cash and short term funds 18  2,426,041,114  1,553,702,352 

Balances with Maldives Monetary Authority 19  2,108,927,720  2,055,257,149 

Bills of exchange 22  7,125,140 11,244,625

Loans and advances 23  5,062,791,890  5,048,491,204 

Financial assets held to maturity 26  -  403,264,985 

Available for sale investment 27  319,246  319,246 

Property, plant and equipment 28  207,281,596  84,440,819 

Intangible assets 29  16,652,821  25,251,837 

Deferred tax asset 34  209,046,464  251,343,102 

Other assets 30  124,023,792  130,696,864 

Total assets  10,162,209,783  9,564,012,183 

LIABILITIES

Deposits from non-bank customers 31  7,877,085,525  7,518,761,713 

Custodian account of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme 32  19,740,251  59,294,021 

Borrowings 33  636,016,131  959,440,840 

Bills, acceptances and other documentary credits  4,296,134  11,022,403 

Other liabilities 35  300,076,836  245,543,457 

Current tax  82,440,711  - 

Dividends payable  2,829,310  3,069,744 

Total liabilities  8,922,484,898  8,797,132,178 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 36  269,096,000  269,096,000 

Share premium 36  93,000,000  93,000,000 

Statutory and assigned capital reserves 37  156,000,000  156,000,000 

General reserves 37  248,784,005  248,784,005 

Revaluation reserves  98,369,231  - 

Retained earnings  374,475,649  - 

Total shareholders' equity  1,239,724,885  766,880,005 

Total equity and liabilities  10,162,209,783  9,564,012,183 

Commitments and contingencies 38 & 39  800,175,652  895,838,101 

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 23rd April 2013 and signed on their behalf by:

Lasantha Thennakoon Peter Horton  Dr. Abdullah Shiham Hassan

Finance Director MD & Chief Executive Officer Chairman
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Statement of changes in equity
(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa)

Notes  Share 
capital 

 Share 
premium 

 Statu-
tory and 

assigned 
capital 

reserves 

 General 
reserves 

 Reval-
uation 

reserves 

 Retained 
earnings 

 Total 

Balance at 
1 January 2011

 269,096,000  93,000,000  156,000,000  248,784,005  -  -  766,880,005 

Net profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at
31 December 2011  269,096,000  93,000,000  156,000,000  248,784,005  -  766,880,005 

Balance at
1 January 2012  269,096,000  93,000,000  156,000,000  248,784,005  -  -  766,880,005 

Revaluation surplus 28  -  -  -  -  98,369,231  -  98,369,231 

Net profit for the year  -  -  -  -  -  374,475,649  374,475,649 

Balance at 
31 December 2012  269,096,000  93,000,000  156,000,000  248,784,005  98,369,231  374,475,649  1,239,724,885 
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Cash flow statement
 Year ended 31 December 

(All amounts in Maldivian Rufiyaa) Notes 2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest receipts  645,281,040  627,797,277 

Fees and commission receipts  233,071,573  173,994,706 

Dividend income  152,011  121,262 

Net foreign exchange income  31,292,770  40,859,263 

Other operating income  74,929,068  20,097,954 

Interest payments  (145,734,364)  (165,713,350)

Cash paid to employees and other expenses  (242,731,783)  (246,964,081)

Cash flows from operating profits before changes in operating assets and 
liabilities

40
 596,260,315  450,193,031 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Increase in reserve deposits with MMA  (53,670,571)  (353,736,339)

Increase in loans and advances to customers  (68,346,556)  (269,219,672)

(Increase) / decrease in other assets  2,340,554  (53,447,671)

Increase in amounts due to customers  358,323,812  506,182,871 

Increase / (decrease) in custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement 
Pension Scheme

 (39,553,770)  39,526,910 

Increase in other liabilities  39,205,322  46,342,539 

Net cash generated from operating activities before bank profit tax 834,559,106 365,841,669

Bank profit tax paid  -  (76,497,480)

Net cash generated from operating activities  834,559,106  289,344,189 

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (41,398,100)  (13,942,097)

Purchase of intangible assets  (468,416)  (2,745,843)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  46,332  3,520 

Investment in treasury bills  403,264,985  226,535,764 

Net cash generated from investing activities  361,444,801  209,851,344 

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowed funds  35,350,600  36,827,599 

Repayments of borrowed funds  (358,775,311)  (337,754,736)

Dividends paid  (240,434)  (326,793)

Net cash used in financing activities  (323,665,145) (301,253,930)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  872,338,762  197,941,603 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  1,553,702,352  1,355,760,749 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20  2,426,041,114  1,553,702,352 
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Notes to the financial statements
1 General information

Bank of Maldives PLC is engaged in the business of commercial banking and other financial services including trade financing, custodial services and development 
financing. The registered office is situated at 11, Boduthakurufaanu Magu, Male’, 20094, Republic of Maldives.

The Bank is a limited liability Company and is incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Maldives. The Bank is listed in Maldives Stock Exchange.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), with the modification of the requirements of IAS 
39 - Financial Instrument : Recognition and measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning and modification of the requirement of IFRS 7- Financial instruments 
on disclosures in respect of credit risk grading by prudential regulation No.05 - 2009 on “ Asset classification, provisioning and suspension of interest” issued by 
Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention whereby the transactions are recorded at the 
values prevailing on the dates when the assets were acquired, the liabilities were incurred or the capital obtained, as modified by the revaluation of Bank’s premises 
at fair value.

2.2 New accounting standards issued but not effective as at the balance sheet date

The International Accounting Standards Board has issued the new standards given below, which become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2012. Accordingly these standards have not been applied in preparing these financial statements as they are not effective for the year ended 31 December 2012.

- IAS 1 (Amendment), Presentation of Financial Statements (effective from 1 July 2012)

- IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits (effective from 1 January 2013)

- IAS 32 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Presentation (effective from 1 January 2014)

- IFRS 7 (Amendment), Financial Instruments: Disclosures (effective from 1 January 2013)

- IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2015)

- IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (effective from 1 January 2013)

- IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (effective from 1 January 2013)

- IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective from 1 January 2013)

- IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (effective from 1 January 2013)

2.3 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). These financial statements are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow and qualifying net 
investment hedges. 
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2.4 Financial assets

The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and available-for-sale financial assets. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

(a) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the 
Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are classified as held for trading, (b) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as available 
for sale; or (c) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration. 

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to originate the loan including any transaction costs – and carried 
subsequently with accrued interest. Loans and receivables are reported in the balance sheet as loans and advances to customers. Interest on loans is included 
in the income statement and is reported as ‘Interest and similar income’. In the case of an impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the 
carrying value of the loan and recognised in the income statement as ‘Provision for bad and doubtful debts’.

(b) Held-to-maturity financial assets

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Bank’s management has the 
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than: (a) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; (b) those 
that the Bank designates as available for sale; and (c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.

These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method. Interest on held-to-maturity investments is included in the income statement and reported as ‘Interest and similar income’. In the case of an 
impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the investment and recognised in the income statement as ‘Net gains/(losses) 
on investment securities’. Held-to-maturity investments only include treasury bills.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity 
or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration including any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at 
fair value with gains and losses being directly recognised in the equity, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the financial asset 
is derecognised. If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the equity is recognised 
in the income statement. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement in ‘Dividend income’ when the Bank’s right to 
receive payment is established.

The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices. In case of investments in unquoted equity shares, they are stated at cost 
less allowance for falling value of investment, since the fair value of those cannot be measured reliably.

2.5 Financial liabilities

Deposits from customers and borrowings

Financial liabilities of the Bank include deposits from customers, long term debts and other liabilities. Savings deposits are carried with accrued interest. Long term 
borrowings are carried after deduction of principals repayment from initial borrowings. Interest accrued on fixed deposits and long term debts are included under 
other liabilities. Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished.

2.6 Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is not the case with the assets and liabilities 
presented gross in the balance sheet.

2.7 Interest income and expenses

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as held for trading, are recognised within ‘interest income’ 
and ‘interest expense’ in the income statement on accrual basis by applying the agreed interest rate. However, interest income is suspended when loans become 
doubtful of collection, such as when overdue by more than 90 days. Such income is excluded from interest income until received.
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2.8 Fee and commission income

The income mainly comprise fees receivable from customers for guarantees and other services provided by the Bank, and fees for foreign and domestic payment 
tariff. Such income is recognised as revenue as the services are provided.

Income on the endorsement of bills of exchange is recognised only when the bill is received and either issued or endorsed, and the payment under the particular 
instrument has been effected.

2.9 Dividend income

Dividends are recognised in the income statement when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets

(a) Loans and advances

All loans and advances are recognised when the cash is advanced to borrowers.

A specific credit risk provision for loan impairment is established to provide for management’s estimate of credit losses as soon as the recovery of an exposure is 
identified as doubtful.

Provision for loan impairment is made on the basis of continuous review of all advances to customers, in accordance with the prudential regulation No.05 - 2009 
on Asset classification, provisioning and suspension of interest and the circular no: CN-CBSS/2012/5 issued by MMA based on aged classification of advances as 
follows:

Period outstanding Classification Provision made for unsecured 
portion of debt

Provision made for secured 
portion of debt

0 - 59 days  Pass 1% 1%

60 - 89 days
 Especially 
mentioned

5 % 5 %

More than 90 days and upto 179 days  Substandard 25% 25%

More than 180 days and upto 359 days  Doubtful 50% 25%

More than 360 days and upto 719 days  Loss 100% 50%

More than 720 days and upto 1079 days  Loss 100% 75%

More than 1080 days  Loss 100% 100%

Provisions for impairment on credit card receivables are made on the basis of continuous review of outstanding from card holders, in accordance with the credit 
policy of the Bank based on aged classification of the receivables as follows:

Period outstanding Classification Provision made

More than 60 days and upto 180 days Non-performing 50%

More than 180 days Non-performing 100%

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have 
been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised (such as the debtor regularising loan repayment), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. Amounts 
recovered from fully impaired loans and advances are recognised as income on a cash basis.
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(b) Assets classified as available for sale 

“The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case 
of equity investments classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining 
whether the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. 
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the income statement.  
“

(c) Renegotiated loans 

A renegotiated loan includes sanction of any new loan to repay or replace any loan/(s) that is overdue, rescheduled, rolled-over, or otherwise modified because of 
deterioration in the borrower’s financial condition or an inability to repay the loan according to the original terms. The Bank documents the basis for restructuring a 
loan including, at a minimum: (i) current financial condition and cash flow information; (ii) changes to borrower’s operations; and (iii) additional security obtained.

If a loan is renegotiated and all overdue interest is paid by the borrower in cash at the time of renegotiation, the renegotiated loan is classified as Sub-standard. If a 
loan is renegotiated but all overdue interest is not paid by the borrower in cash at the time of renegotiation, the loan is classified according to paragraph 3 of Part III 
in prudential regulation No.05 - 2009 on Asset classification, provisioning and suspension of interest issued by MMA.

A renegotiated loan is upgraded to performing category only after the payments made according to the restructured loan terms for a period of at least six months 
and satisfactory performance of the loan during such period. If any portion of principal or interest of a renegotiated loan subsequently becomes past due 90 days 
or more, the entire loan is placed in non-accrual and remain so until all overdue principal and interest is brought current by payment in cash.

2.11 Property, plant and equipment

Bank premises are shown at fair value, based on valuations by an external independent valuer. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of premises, and the net amount is restated to revalued amount of the assets.

All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to other 
operating expenses during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Bank premises - 20 years

Computer hardware and software - 3 - 5 years

Furniture and equipment - 5 years

Motor vehicles / vessels - 5 years

Leasehold buildings are amortised over the unexpired period of the lease.

The charge for the depreciation commences from the date on which the asset is put to use.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. Assets that are subject to amortisation are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying amount is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount, if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in other operating income or other operating 
expenses, as the case may be, in the income statement.

2.12 Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable intangible items. Computer software licences and other intangible assets are considered as intangible assets, 
are recognised at cost. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful economic life. Intangible 
assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. Generally, the identified intangible assets of the Bank have a definite useful life. At each date of the balance 
sheet , intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets 
are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
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2.13 Operating leases

Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under 
operating leases are charged to the equipment and establishment expenses in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an 
expense in the period in which termination takes place.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition, 
including cash, amounts due from other banks and treasury bills.

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

2.16 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified 
debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and 
other bodies on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at the amount guaranteed on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the bank’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the initial measurement, less the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any 
financial obligation arising at the balance sheet date.

Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is taken to the income statement under other operating expenses.

2.17 Employee benefits

(a) Staff Provident Fund

The Bank operates a Staff Provident Fund. All the local employees of the Bank who have subscribed to the fund are the members of this Fund to which the Bank 
contributes 3%. This contribution is recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.

(b) Retirement Pension Scheme

Bank is liable to enrol the employees in the Retirement Pension Scheme with effect from 1 May 2011 based on the Regulation on Maldives Retirement Pension 
Scheme published by Government of Maldives and shall make contributions at a rate of 7% from the employee’s pensionable wages on behalf of the employees 
of age between 16 and 65 years to the pension office. Bank contribution to retirement pension scheme is at the rate of 7% on pensionable wages. Obligations for 
contributions to retirement pension scheme is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement. 

2.18 Deferred bank profit taxes

Deferred bank profit tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements. Currently enacted tax rates are used in the determination of deferred bank profit tax.

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property, plant and equipment and provision on impairment of loans.

2.19 Acceptances

Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Bank to pay the bills of exchange drawn on customers. The Bank expects most acceptances to be settled 
simultaneously with reimbursement from the customers. Acceptances are accounted for as off balance sheet transactions and are disclosed as contingent liabilities 
and commitments. 
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2.20 Share capital

Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

2.21 Fiduciary activities

The Bank commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit 
plans and other institutions. These assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not assets of the Bank.

Custodian account of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme

Pursuant to the agreement entered with Maldives Pension Administration Office (MPAO), the administrator of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme, the Bank 
performs custodial and other services relating to the establishment and maintenance of contribution collection and contribution holding accounts of Maldives 
Retirement Pension Scheme, in which the Bank keeps the funds and, at the direction of MPAO or a person authorised by MPAO, invests the funds in the 
designated financial instruments, in consideration for which MPAO pays a fee to the Bank. The movement in Contribution holding account held by the Bank on 
behalf of MPAO has been separately disclosed in Note 32. 

2.22 Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

3 Financial risk management

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk 
or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The Bank’s aim is 
therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Bank’s financial performance.

The Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and 
adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Bank regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect 
changes in markets, products and emerging best practice. 

Risk management is carried out by the Bank under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Bank identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-
operation with the Bank’s operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, 
such as credit risk and liquidity risk. In addition, internal audit is responsible for the independent review of risk management and the control environment. The most 
important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk. Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risks. 

3.1 Credit risk 

The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss for the Bank by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit 
risk is the most important risk for the Bank’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit exposures arise principally in 
lending activities that lead to loans and advances. There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments, such as loan commitments. 

Exposure to credit risks arises from lending, sales and trading. Lending exposures are typically represented by the principal amount of on balance sheet financial 
instruments. Financial guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent undertakings that the Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot 
meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans even though they are of contingent nature. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, 
which are undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer, are usually collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore 
exhibit different risk characteristics from direct borrowing. Commitments to extend credit include unused portions of loan commitments, guarantees or letters of 
credit. The majority of unused commitments are contingent upon customers observing or meeting certain credit terms and conditions.

Credit policies were formulated covering all Bank credit activities and establishment of individual limits of authority for initiating, reviewing and approving credit. The 
risk organisation is structured such that there is segregation of duties between risk taking and risk controlling units. A Credit Committee comprising five members 
and chaired by the Head of Credit (HOC), meets regularly to discuss credit proposals in line with credit policies.
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3.1.1 Credit risk measurement 

The Bank has not introduced the system of internal rating, probability of default and consequential probability of losses. The credit risk management of the 
exposures is conducted through credit granting process which includes the assessment of the creditworthiness and the establishment of appropriate credit limits. 
Credit approvers have the responsibility to ensure that credits are properly assessed and classified. Individual Bank staff also assume the responsibility to ensure all 
crucial information is included in the application for the purpose of analysis and approval. The analysis supporting the credit approval decision takes into account 
both financial and non-financial factors that affect the going concern of the borrowers and also incorporate an evaluation of the collateral offered. This evaluation 
ensures that;

 » A lending has identifiable source of repayment 
 » Establishing suitable exposure limits for borrowers based on financial strength
 » Avoid excessive single industry/group exposures  

3.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies 

The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified – in particular, to individual counterparties and groups, and to 
industries. The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of 
borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review, when 
considered necessary. Limits on the level of credit risk by product, industry sector are approved annually by the Board of Directors. 

The exposure to any one borrower is further restricted by sub-limits covering on- and off-balance sheet exposures. Actual exposures against limits are monitored 
daily. Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment 
obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate. 

Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below. 

  (a) Collateral 

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the taking of security for funds advances, which is 
common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for 
loans and advances are: 

 » Mortgages over leasehold rights of resorts islands and residential properties 
 » Charges over business assets such as premises, office equipments, and inventory and accounts receivable; 
 » Charges over vehicles, boats, dhonies and related equipments
 » Corporate and personal guarantees 

Medium term loans, overdrafts and revolving trade credit facilities are generally secured. In addition, in order to minimise the credit loss the Bank will, as far as 
practicable, seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances. 

  (b) Credit-related commitments 

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. 

Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the 
Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Bank upto a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are collateralised 
by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan. 

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to 
credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely 
amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit 
standards and since generally these exposures are secured against adequate collateral. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because 
longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.
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3.1.3 Impairment and provisioning policies 

Impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes only for losses that have been incurred at the balance sheet date based on objective 
evidence of impairment (see Note 2.10).

The impairment provision shown in the balance sheet at year-end is derived from each of the five groups described in Note 2.10. The table below shows the 
percentage of the Bank’s on balance sheet items relating to loans and advances and the associated impairment provision for each of the Group: 

2012 2011

Group
“Loans & 

advances 
 %”

“Impairment 
provision 

%”

“Loans & 
advances 

 %”

“Impairment 
provision 

 %”
Pass 51.5% 1% 62.4% 1%

Especially 
mentioned

6.2% 5% 2.8% 5%

Substandard 15.8% 25% 1.9% 25%

Doubtful 5.0% 44% 9.9% 50%

Loss 21.5% 75% 23.0% 100%

100% 100%

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at least annually or more regularly when individual 
circumstances require. However, the current regulations entail upon the Bank to undertake quarterly review of all accounts. Impairment allowances on individually 
assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at balance-sheet date on a case-by-case basis, and are applied to all individually significant 
accounts. 

3.1.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the amounts on the balance sheet as well as commitments to extend credit, without taking into account the fair 
value of any collateral. The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet:

(Amount in MVR‘000)

 2012  2011 
Balances with other banks  370,298  77,720 

Money at call and short notice  646,555  121,806 

Bills of exchange 7,125 11,245

Loans and advances to customers 5,062,792  5,048,492 

Total on the balance sheet  6,086,770  5,259,263 

Contingent liabilities and commitments  800,176  895,838 

Total credit exposure as 31 December  6,886,946  6,155,101 

74% of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers (2011: 82%).

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the Bank resulting from both its loan and advances 
portfolio and based on the following: 

 » Mortgage loans, which represents the biggest group in the portfolio, are backed by collateral; 
 » 52% of the loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired (2011: 63%);
 » The Bank has introduced a more stringent selection process upon granting loans and advances.
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3.1.5 Loans and advances 

Loans and advances are summarised as follows: 

(Amount in MVR‘000)

 2012  2011 
Neither past due nor impaired  2,983,239  3,207,605 

Past due but not impaired  931,431  1,504,418 

Impaired  2,870,809  2,517,364 

Gross  6,785,479  7,229,387 

Less: allowance for impairment  (1,257,580)  (1,446,616)

Less : Interest in suspense  (457,982)  (723,036)

Net  5,069,917  5,059,735 

Further information of the impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers is provided in Notes 21.

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired (Amount in MVR‘000)

 2012  2011 
Analysed by industry

Agriculture 9,001 10,431

Commerce 252,993 354,028

Construction 566,154 544,499

Fishing 123,911 188,113

Manufacturing 129,413 145,675

Personal 343,325 300,618

Services 435,920 150,828

Tourism 1,122,522 1,513,413

 2,983,239  3,207,605 

(a) Loans neither past due nor impaired

Currently, the Bank does not maintain an internal credit rating system except for exposures which are classified as non-performing. However, the Bank does an 
in-depth credit risk assessment on qualitative and quantitative basis before granting a facility. Exposure to each borrower or group of related borrowers are again 
reviewed on a scheduled basis.

(i) In evaluating credit risks the Bank considers qualitative criteria pertinent to the borrower, including management depth and reputation, the borrower’s past track 
record, its business risks, the industry, operating environment and conditions that the borrower operates in. The Bank looks for quality, stability and sustainability of 
performance. In quantitative assessment, the Bank analyses the borrower’s historical and projected financial statements, where pertinent. In this respect, the Bank 
focuses on the profitability of the business, the efficiency in the employment of its assets, and its financial leverage to assess its liquidity and cash-flow positions and 
hence its ability to meet its financial commitments.

(ii) To manage and mitigate risk of loss in the event of default, the Bank looks first at the protection accorded by the borrower’s net assets to the Bank’s exposure 
to the company. Where appropriate, the Bank will examine the quality, liquidity and hence the realisable value of its principal operating assets such as account 
receivables, inventory and capital assets. In establishing financial protection for the Bank’s exposure, the Bank may take a security interest in such assets by way of 
mortgages, pledges, assignments and the like. In addition the Bank may also take additional collaterals offered by the company’s principals or other third party to 
ensure adequate protection with a margin. Taking collateral is a prevalent practice in the local lending environment as additional practical and prudential measures 
of mitigating against potential loss at default. Main reasons for doing so are due to (a) the general lack of confidence in the reliability of financial statements 
provided, particularly unaudited and/or stale ones, and (b) ensure that assets are not secured to other creditors to the Bank’s detriment.

(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired 

Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. Gross amount of loans 
and advances by class to customers that were past due but not impaired were as follows: 
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(Amount in MVR‘000)

Individual (retail customers)

31 December 2012 Overdrafts Credit cards Term loans Mortgages Retail banking  Total 

Past due upto 30 days  7,846  5,139  52,166  125,774  201,446  392,371 

Past due 30-60 days  -  3,191  13,397  23,598  65,596  105,782 

Past due 60-90 days  5  -  12,445  16,867  70,716  100,033 

Total  7,851  8,330  78,008  166,239  337,758  598,186 

Corporate entities

31 December 2012  Total 
Past due up to 30 days  10,507 

Past due 30-60 days  5,386 

Past due 60-90 days  317,352 

Total  333,245 

Credit cards past due in the range of 60 - 90 days of MVR1,451,479 as at 31 December 2012 are considered as impaired in accordance with the credit policy 
of the Bank.

(Amount in MVR‘000)

Individual (retail customers)

31 December 2011 Overdrafts Credit cards Term loans Mortgages Retail banking  Total 

Past due upto 30 days  40,643  4,140  36,211  135,679  174,956  391,629 

Past due 30-60 days  2  964  15,051  32,430  72,442  120,889 

Past due 60-90 days  37,921  -  7,378  26,103  54,036  125,438 

Total  78,566  5,104  58,640  194,212  301,434  637,956 

Corporate entities

31 December 2011  Total 
Past due upto 30 days  790,485 

Past due 30-60 days  - 

Past due 60-90 days  75,976 

Total  866,461 

Credit cards past due in the range of 60 - 90 days of MVR159,058 as at 31 December 2011 are considered as impaired in accordance with the credit policy of 
the Bank.

(c) Loans and advances individually impaired

The individually impaired loans and advances to customers before taking into consideration the cashflows from collateral held is MVR2,870,808,926(2011: 
MVR2,517,363,569).
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The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class are as follows:

(Amount in MVR‘000)

Individual (retail customers)  

31 December 
2012 Overdrafts Credit cards Term loans Mortgages Retail banking

 Large 
corporate 

customers
 Total 

Individually 
impaired loans

 301,941  10,960  120,724  73,101  298,759  2,065,323  2,870,809 

Total  301,941  10,960  120,724  73,101  298,759  2,065,323  2,870,809 

Individual (retail customers)  

31 December 
2011 Overdrafts Credit cards Term loans Mortgages Retail  

banking

 Large 
corporate 

customers
 Total 

Individually 
impaired loans

 319,489  7,722  71,896  108,886  314,510  1,694,861  2,517,364 

Total  319,489  7,722  71,896  108,886  314,510  1,694,861  2,517,364 

Non-performing assets by past due period (Amount in MVR‘000)

 2012  2011 

Substandard  1,072,906  138,215 

Doubtful  336,839  716,229 

Loss  1,461,064  1,662,920 

 2,870,809  2,517,364 

(d) Loans and advances renegotiated 

Renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired totalled MVR766,514,528 (2011: MVR561,332,199) at December 2012.

(Amount in MVR‘000)

 2012  2011 
Renegotiated loans and advances to customers –

individuals:

– Continuing to be impaired after restructuring  35,440  62,989 

Loans to individuals:

– Non–impaired after restructuring – would otherwise have been impaired  55,773  7,357 

– Non–impaired after restructuring – would otherwise not have been impaired  -   11,956 

 91,213  82,302 
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3.1.6 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure 

(a) Geographical sectors 

Currently, the Bank’s lending activities are limited to Republic of Maldives. 

(b) Industry sectors

The following table lists the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as categorised by the industry sectors of our counterparties. 

(Amount in MVR‘000)

  2012  2011 

Agriculture  15,908  25,043 

Commerce  385,977  462,715 

Construction  936,469  961,996 

Fishing  468,185  499,091 

Manufacturing  280,109  297,752 

Personal  426,276  361,565 

Services  550,930  290,999 

Tourism  3,721,625  4,330,225 

Grand total  6,785,479  7,229,386 

3.2 Market risk 

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market 
movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank 
does not have a trading portfolio and quoted equity investments. Therefore the Bank is not open to any equity price risk.

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the entity’s retail and commercial banking assets and liabilities. 

The market risks arising from non-trading activities are discussed in the Bank’s Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO). Regular reports are 
submitted to the Board of Directors and to ALCO members. 

3.2.1 Foreign exchange risk 

All the transactions in the Bank, other than the transactions in local currency, Maldivian Rufiyaa (MVR), are carried out mainly in United States Dollars (USD). Upto 
April 2011, the exchange rate was fixed and from April 2011, the exchange rate has been maintained within 20% cap and floor of the base rate. Therefore, the 
Bank is not susceptible to any major currency fluctuation risk. Nevertheless, generally, the Bank does not engage in large scale transactions on speculative basis on 
its own other than to cover an underlying customer transaction or to cover a currency funding gap.

However, the exposure to the risk associated with changes on foreign exchange rates as a result of holding open positions caused by a gap between the assets 
and liabilities in a particular currency or combination of currencies, is controlled through a combination of foreign exchange position limits and transactions limits. 
These exposures are monitored on a daily basis and reported to ALCO. Further, timely recognition of market losses through mark to market and exchange 
revaluation mechanisms are also in place by the system.
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As at 31 December 2012 MVR  USD  GBP  JPY  SGD  EUR  OTHERS  Total 
in MVR‘000

Assets
Cash and Balances with Banks  1,806,094  1,651,482  3,543  1,650  2,848  50,801  3,747  3,520,165 

Treasury Bills  1,014,804  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,014,804 

Loans and Advances  3,228,060  1,643,997  -  -  -  196,580  1,280  5,069,917 

Investment securities  -  319  -  -  -  -  -  319 

Other Assets  445,400  111,429  -  2  -  121  53  557,005 

Total Assets  6,494,358  3,407,227  3,543  1,652  2,848  247,502  5,080  10,162,210 

Liabilities
Deposits  4,921,677  2,945,407  3,581  1,738  120  24,303  -  7,896,826 

Borrowings  74,257  538,648  -  -  -  23,111  -  636,016 

Other Liabilities  348,841  40,004  71  -  -  718  9  389,643 

Total Liabilities  5,344,775  3,524,059  3,652  1,738  120  48,132  9  8,922,485 

Net on-balance sheet financial position  1,149,583  (116,832)  (109)  (86)  2,728  199,370  5,071  1,239,725 

Commitments  406,995  364,597  7,298  11,588  802  8,896  -  800,176 

As at 31 December 2011 MVR  USD  GBP  JPY  SGD  EUR  OTHERS  Total 
in MVR‘000

Assets
Cash and Balances with Banks  1,756,461  872,020  2,225  1,657  2,746  59,639  1,775  2,696,523 

Treasury Bills  1,315,702  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,315,702 

Loans and Advances  2,761,296  2,065,422  -  -  -  231,761  1,257  5,059,736 

Investment securities  -  319  -  -  -  -  -  319 

Other Assets  405,937  85,392  9  -  293  88  14  491,733 

Total Assets  6,239,396  3,023,153  2,234  1,657  3,039  291,488  3,046  9,564,013 

Liabilities
Deposits  4,822,519  2,727,090  -  657  -  27,790  -  7,578,056 

Borrowings  42,410  657,907  -  -  -  259,124  -  959,441 

Other Liabilities  213,914  43,316  224  -  3  2,179  -  259,636 

Total Liabilities  5,078,843  3,428,313  224  657  3  289,093  -  8,797,133 

Net on-balance sheet financial position  1,160,553  (405,160)  2,010  1,000  3,036  2,395  3,046  766,880 

Commitments  543,737  330,622  -  6,769  -  14,710  - 895,838
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3.2.2 Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest 
rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of 
fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in 
the event that unexpected movements arise.

The extent of the interest rate risk depends on the value and period of the maturity mismatch between interest bearing assets and liabilities and the ability and 
speed of the Bank in re-pricing them. The ALCO regularly reviews these gaps to ensure that they are within acceptable norms. The Bank regularly monitors the 
market behaviour and products are appropriately re-priced when necessary.

The Bank does not carry a trading portfolio nor generally invest in stocks or shares other than Government treasury bills, for which investments are generally less 
than 12 months and held to maturity. Therefore, the Bank is not open to any price fluctuation risks.

MMA regulations on minimum reserve require the commercial banks to maintain a reserve of 25% of demand and time liabilities (excluding interbank liabilities and 
margin deposits) for Male’ based branches, and 15% for other branches. For the purpose of foreign currency minimum reserve requirement, the Bank is required 
to maintain 3% of the reserve requirement in local currency. These deposits are not available for bank’s day to day operation. Reserve deposits carry interests at 
rate of 1% and 0.01% per annum on the Rufiyaa and Dollar deposits respectively. 

The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of 
contractual repricing or maturity dates. 

As at 31 
December 

2012
Up to 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Non- Interest 

Bearing Total

in MVR‘000

Assets
Cash and 
Balances with 
Banks

 2,718,437  -  -  -  -  801,728  3,520,165 

Treasury Bills  64,718  950,086  -  -  -  -  1,014,804 

Loans and 
Advances

 993,451  157,830  608,727  1,874,862  224,018  1,211,029  5,069,917 

Other Assets  -  -  -  -  -  557,324  557,324 

Total Financial 
Assets  3,776,606  1,107,916  608,727  1,874,862  224,018  2,570,081  10,162,210 

As at 31 
December 

2012
Up to 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Non- Interest 

Bearing Total

in MVR‘000

Liabilities
Deposits from 
customers

 3,706,985  310,312  125,924  27,135  5  3,726,465  7,896,826 

Borrowings  295,290  22,668  162,681  38,025  117,352  -  636,016 

Other Liabilities  -  -  -  -  96,098  293,545  389,643 

Total 
Financial 
Liabilities

 4,002,275  332,980  288,605  65,160  213,455  4,020,010  8,922,485 

Total interest 
repricing gap  (225,669)  774,936  320,122  1,809,702  10,563  (1,449,929)  1,239,725 
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As at 31 
December 
2011

Up to 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Non- Interest 
Bearing Total

in MVR‘000

Assets
Cash and 
Balances with 
Banks

 1,892,492  -  -  -  -  804,031  2,696,523 

Treasury Bills  436,091  476,346  403,265  -  -  -  1,315,702 

Loans and 
Advances

 1,036,105  161,065  664,665  2,408,747  385,806  403,347  5,059,735 

Other Assets  -  -  -  -  -  492,052  492,052 

Total 
Financial 
Assets

 3,364,688  637,411  1,067,930  2,408,747  385,806  1,699,430  9,564,012 

As at 31 
December 
2011

Up to 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Non- Interest 
Bearing Total

in MVR‘000

Liabilities
Deposits from 
customers

 3,823,271  221,203  228,649  2,362  309  3,302,262  7,578,056 

Borrowings  587,624  25,502  207,574  50,700  88,040  -  959,440 

Other Liabilities  -  -  -  -  88,932  170,704  259,636 

Total 
Financial 
Liabilities

 4,410,897  246,705  436,223  53,062  177,281  3,472,966  8,797,132 

Total interest 
repricing gap  (1,046,209)  390,706  631,707  2,355,685  208,525  (1,773,536)  766,880 

Additionally, the Bank is confident that it has sufficient interest margins to absorb any adverse impacts due to interest fluctuations on unmatched positions. Further, 
the Bank retains the option to revise the interest rates on all Rufiyaa loans per terms of sanction. For foreign currency loans, wherever the interest rate is set with a 
mark up over the floating bench mark LIBOR, the Bank has set floor rates to mitigate its interest rate risk.

3.3 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when 
they are withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil commitments to lend.
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3.3.1 Liquidity risk management process 

The Bank’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Bank and monitored by a separate team in Bank Treasury, includes: 

 » Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. This includes replenishment of funds as they mature 
or are borrowed by customers. The Bank maintains an active presence in global money markets to enable this to happen;

 » Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow; 
 » Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal requirements; and 
 » Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the week and month respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity 
management. The starting point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the 
financial assets.

The Bank also monitors unmatched medium-term assets, the level and type of undrawn lending commitments, the usage of overdraft facilities and the impact of 
contingent liabilities such as standby letters of credit and guarantees.

The Bank maintains a statutory redeposit with the MMA equal to 25% of the customer deposits from Male’ based branches and 15% of the customer deposits 
from other Atoll based branches. Further, the Bank maintains a ratio of net liquid assets to liabilities to reflect the market conditions.

3.3.2 Funding approach 

Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by the ALCO to maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography, provider, product and term. 

3.3.3 Non-derivative cash flows 

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet 
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Bank manages the inherent liquidity risk based on expected 
undiscounted cash inflows. 

As at 31 December 2012 Up to 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Total
In MVR‘000

Liabilities

Deposits  7,433,830  312,909  129,158  28,857  7  7,904,761 

Borrowings  25,798  5,246  88,075  411,757  182,162  713,038 

Other Liabilities  149,990  -  -  -  241,087  391,077 

Total Liabilities  7,609,618  318,155  217,233  440,614  423,256  9,008,876 

Total Assets  6,341,593  536,214  849,022  2,394,529  1,606,756  11,728,114 

Net  (1,268,025)  218,059  631,789  1,953,915  1,183,500  2,719,238 

As at 31 December 2011 Up to 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-12 Months 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Total
In MVR‘000

Liabilities

Deposits  7,126,360  222,919  233,537  2,580  466  7,585,862 

Borrowings  55,617  3,103  109,259  551,366  315,763  1,035,107 

Other Liabilities  75,087  -  -  -  184,549  259,636 

Total Liabilities  7,257,064  226,022  342,796  553,946  500,778  8,880,606 

Total Assets  4,135,704  671,973  1,276,625  2,832,846  1,037,127  9,954,275 

Net  (3,121,360)  445,951  933,829  2,278,900  536,349  1,073,669 

Demand and savings deposits have been categorised as upto 1 month maturity group. However a major part of these deposits represent a core retail deposit base 
with longer term maturity. Bills of exchange and loans and advances are shown net of interest in suspense and provision for bad and doubtful debts.
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Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include cash, money market placements with banks, central bank balances, 
items in the course of collection and treasury and other eligible bills; and loans and advances to customers. Subject to credit approvals, a proportion of customer 
loans contractually repayable within one year will be extended. The Bank would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by discounting treasury bills and 
accessing additional funding sources such as asset backed markets.

3.3.4 Off-balance sheet items

Loan commitments, financial guarantees which are based on the earliest contractual maturity date and other financial facilities, are all fall within next one year.

(a) Loan commitments 

The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit it to extend credit to customers and other facilities (Note 
39), are summarised in the table below. 

(b) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities 

Financial guarantees (Note 38), are also included below based on the earliest contractual maturity date. 

(c) Operating lease commitments 

Where the Bank is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, as disclosed in Note 39, are summarised in the table 
below. 

(d) Capital commitments 

Capital commitments for the acquisition of buildings and equipment (Note 39) are summarised in the table below. 

(Amount in MVR‘000)

No later than 
1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

At 31 December 2012
Loan commitments  486,044  -  -  486,044 

Guarantees, acceptances and other financial facilities  266,917  -  -  266,917 

Operating lease commitments  10,922  33,610  2,683  47,215 

Capital commitments  -  -  -  - 

Total  763,883  33,610  2,683  800,176 

(Amount in MVR‘000)

No later than 
1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

At 31 December 2011
Loan commitments  554,669  -  -  554,669 

Guarantees, acceptances and other financial facilities  292,394  -  -  292,394 

Operating lease commitments  10,183  30,458  8,134  48,775 

Total  857,246  30,458  8,134  895,838 

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

There is no material difference between the carrying amounts and fair values of the financial assets and liabilities presented on the Bank’s balance sheet due to 
following reasons;

(i) Due from other banks 

Due from other banks represents working balances and overnight inter-bank money market placements which are at carrying amount.



Notes to the Financial Statements

.

(ii) Loans and advances to customers 

Based on management’s review, there is no difference between current interest rates charged to the Bank’s performing customers and current interest rates 
prevailing in the market, taking the customers risk profile (i.e.; business risk, project risk, gearing, collateral offered, tenor, grace period, etc.) into consideration. 

Non performing loans and advances are stated at net of provisions for impairment.

(iii) Due to customers and borrowings

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, are the amount repayable on demand. Bank’s fixed 
interest-bearing deposits and borrowings bear the current market interest rates based on similar maturities.

3.5 Capital management 

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of balance sheets, are: 

 » To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the banking markets where the entities within the Bank operate; 
 » To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 

stakeholders; and 
 » To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Bank’s management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed 
by the Basel I Committee, as implemented by the Maldives Monetary Authority (the Authority), for supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the 
Authority on a monthly basis. 

The Authority requires each bank or banking group to: (a) hold the minimum level of the regulatory capital of MVR150 million , and (b) maintain a ratio of total 
regulatory capital to the risk-weighted asset (the ‘Basel ratio’) at or above the internationally agreed minimum of 12%.

The Bank’s regulatory capital as managed by its management is divided into two tiers: 

 » Tier 1 capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings.; and 

 » Tier 2 capital: Current year earnings, general provision and qualifying subordinated loan capital.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market 
and other risks associated with each asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-balance 
sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.
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The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank for the years ended 31 December. During those two years, the Bank 
complied with all of the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject to;

(Amount in MVR‘000)

Tier 1 Capital  2012  2011 

Share capital  269,096  269,096 

Assigned capital reserve  6,000  6,000 

Share premium  93,000  93,000 

General reserve  248,785  248,785 

Statutory reserves  150,000  150,000 

Total qualifying Tier 1 Capital  766,881  766,881 

Tier 2 Capital

Current earnings  374,476  - 

Revaluation reserve  44,266  - 

General provision  55,782  55,635 

Total qualifying Tier 2 Capital  474,524  55,635 

Total regulatory capital  1,241,405  822,516 

Risk-weighted Assets

On-balance sheet  5,425,943  5,508,700 

Off-balance sheet  611,269  717,056 

Total risk-weighted assets  6,037,212  6,225,756 

Basel ratio 20.56% 13.21%

The increase in the regulatory capital in the year of 2012 is mainly due to profit earned during the year. There were reduction in risk-weighted assets. The increase 
in sanctioned limits disbursed have resulted in decrease in off balance sheet assets.

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are 
continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

 
Impairment losses on loans and advances 

The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at least on a yearly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income 
statement, the Bank makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is an impairment of loans and advances. This evidence may 
include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a Bank. 

Management uses fixed percentage prescribed by Maldives Monetary Authority to make provision for impaired loans and advances.
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Transactions between the business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions.

Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments, resulting in funding cost transfers disclosed in operating income. Interest charged for these funds is based on the 
money market interest. There are no other material items of income or expense between the business segments. 

Segment assets and liabilities comprise operating assets and liabilities, being the majority of the balance sheet. 

Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments have been reflected in the performance of each business. 

(Amount in MVR‘000)

Segment Reporting as at 31 December 2012

Corporate 
Banking

Retail and 
electronic 

Banking

Treasury Group

External revenues  434,237  735,992  180,931  1,351,160 

Revenue from other segments  (96,145)  102,973  (6,828)  - 

Total  338,092  838,965   174,103   1,351,160 

Segment result  55,392  407,447  36,373  499,213 

Bank profit tax  -  -  -  (124,737)

Profit for the year  55,392  407,447  -  36,373  374,476 

Segment assets  4,064,111  4,071,793  2,026,306  10,162,210 

Total assets  4,064,111  4,071,793  -  2,026,306  -  10,162,210 

Segment liabilities  2,439,446  5,811,846  671,193  8,922,485 

Capital  -  -  1,239,725  1,239,725 

Total liabilities  2,439,446  5,811,846  -  1,910,918  10,162,210 

Other segment items

Capital expenditure  11,446  27,271  3,149  41,866 

Depreciation  7,107  16,932  1,955  25,994 

5 Segment analysis 

(a) By business segment

The Bank is divided into two main business segments: 

 » Retail and electronic banking – incorporating private banking services, private customer current accounts, savings, deposits, credit and debit cards, 
consumer loans and mortgages, fee based on POS, ATM, internet banking, Banking activities in atoll areas, micro credits and salary handling services.;

 » Corporate banking – incorporating direct debit facilities, current accounts, deposits, overdrafts, loan and other credit facilities, foreign currency, project 
financing for resorts and ship finance of Corporate Customers.
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(Amount in MVR‘000)

Segment Reporting as at 31 December 2011

Corporate 
Banking

Retail and 
electronic 
Banking

Treasury Group

External revenues  293,508  687,604  93,667  1,074,779 

Revenues from other segments  (160,525)  129,320  31,205  - 

Total  132,983  816,924  124,872  1,074,779 

Segment result  (335,513)  360,715  (17,904)  7,298 

Bank profit tax  -  -  -  (7,298)

Profit for the year  (335,513)  360,715  (17,904)  - 

Segment assets  3,324,522  4,515,038  1,724,452  9,564,012 

Total Assets  3,324,522  4,515,038  1,724,452  9,564,012 

Segment liabilities  1,409,438  6,462,928  924,766  8,797,132 

Capital  -  -  766,880  766,880 

Total liabilities  1,409,438  6,462,928  1,691,646  9,564,012 

Other segment items

Capital expenditure  2,460  11,281  2,947  16,688 

Depreciation  4,128  18,929  4,944  28,001

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property and equipment and intangible assets (Note 28 & 29) 

(b) By geographical segment 

The Bank operates only in Republic of Maldives.

(All amounts are shown in Maldivian Rufiyaa unless otherwise stated) 

6 Gross income

 2012  2011 

Interest income  637,550,444  643,091,489 

Fee and commission income  364,729,354  286,345,131 

Dividend income  152,011  121,262 

Net foreign exchange income  31,292,770  40,859,263 

Other operating income  317,435,560  104,361,413 

 1,351,160,139  1,074,778,558 

7 Net interest income

 2012  2011 
Interest income

Customer advances  518,641,832  538,981,020 

Treasury bills / deposits with MMA  101,884,842  85,504,054 

Short term finance  5,711,244  7,899,753 

Assigned capital and reserve deposits  11,312,526  10,706,662 

 637,550,444  643,091,489 
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Interest expense

Customers deposits  132,777,086  141,194,315 

Borrowed funds  13,729,009  24,519,035 

 146,506,095  165,713,350 

Net interest income  491,044,349  477,378,139 

8 Fee and commission income

 2012  2011 

Commissions on pay orders  46,651,707  47,800,529 

Commissions on guarantees  3,137,049  3,955,884 

Commissions on documentary credits  3,235,030  3,598,122 

Commissions on discounting of bills  3,440,315  4,559,249 

Commissions on card operations  287,938,123  212,892,655 

Others  20,327,130  13,538,692 

 364,729,354  286,345,131 

Fee and commission expenses

Credit card expenses  (131,657,781)  (112,350,425)

Net fees and commission  233,071,573  173,994,706 

9 Dividend income

 2012  2011 

Available-for-sale securities  152,011  121,262 

10 Other operating income

 2012  2011 

Telex and fax charges recoveries  5,745,411  5,910,959 

Recovery of non-performing advances  34,539,694  4,483,764 

Reversal of general provision [Note 23(a)]  6,628,968  43,393,235 

Recovery of specific provision [Note 23(a)]  235,831,192  40,870,044 

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  46,332  180 

Others  34,643,963  9,703,231 

 317,435,560  104,361,413 

Others mainly consist of dormant account maintenance fee, royalty reimbursement income from AMEX, custodian fee and miscellaneuous commissions. 

11 Staff costs

 2012  2011 

Staff costs  167,632,945  156,564,947 

Staff cost wholly represents salaries, bonus, allowances and training cost.

The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the year was 795 (2011: 802).
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12 Premises, equipment and establishment expenses

 2012  2011 

Depreciation (Note 28) 16,926,554  18,577,864 

Amortisation (Note 29) 9,067,432  9,423,081 

Operating lease rentals

- property 11,354,486  9,581,649 

Electricity 14,126,307  13,897,733 

Insurance 1,324,684  846,924 

Repairs and maintenance 11,200,515  10,671,943 

Others  780,245  733,981 

64,780,223 63,733,175

13 Provision for bad and doubtful debts

 2012  2011 

Specific provision for loans and advances  286,168,607  508,244,221 

General provision for loans and advances  6,726,314  3,214,346 

 292,894,921  511,458,567 

14 Other operating expenses

 2012  2011 

Directors fees  1,446,133  1,311,640 

Legal charges  1,590,092  1,505,096 

Auditors’ remuneration  735,291  630,239 

Donations  35,648  85,000 

Consultancy fees  621,133  867,574 

Software license fees  15,307,740  16,072,051 

Card fraud losses  -  193,045 

Stationery expenses  5,738,337  6,893,408 

Communication expenses  9,936,299  9,950,643 

Allowance for falling value of investment (Note 27)  -  4,810,453 

Others  13,064,503  15,341,362 

 48,475,176  57,660,511 

15 Bank profit tax expense

 2012  2011 

Current tax  82,440,711  - 

Adjustments in respect of prior year  -  25,374 

Deferred tax (Note 34)  42,296,638  7,272,209 

 124,737,349  7,297,583 
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The tax on Bank’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

 2012  2011 

Profit before tax 499,212,999 7,297,583

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% 124,803,250  1,824,396 

Adjustments in respect of prior year  -  25,374 

Expenses/ (deductible) not deductible for tax  (65,901)  5,447,813 

 124,737,349  7,297,583 

Further information about deferred Bank profit tax is presented in Note 34.

16 Dividends

Dividends payable are not accounted for until they have been ratified at the Annual General Meeting. No dividend was declared during the financial years 2011 and 
2012.

17 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
year.

 2012  2011 

Net profit attributable to shareholders  374,475,649  -  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 5,381,920  5,381,920 

Basic earnings per share  69.58  -  

18 Cash and short term funds

 2012  2011 

Cash in hand  394,384,259  441,740,330 

Balances with other banks  370,298,308  77,719,708 

Money at call and short notice  646,555,027  121,805,046 

Treasury Bills with original maturity less than three months  1,014,803,520  912,437,268 

 2,426,041,114 1,553,702,352

19 Balances with Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA)

 2012  2011 

Reserve deposit  2,108,927,720  2,055,257,149 

Current  2,108,927,720 2,055,257,149

Mandatory reserve deposits with MMA :

MMA regulations on minimum reserve require the commercial banks to maintain a reserve of 25% of demand and time liabilities (excluding interbank liabilities) and 
margin deposits for Male’ based branches, and 15% for other branches. For the purpose of foreign currency minimum reserve requirement, the Bank is required to 
maintain 3% of the reserve requirement in local currency. These deposits are not available for bank’s day to day operation. 

Reserve deposits carry interests at rate of 1% and 0.01% per annum on the Rufiyaa and Dollar deposits respectively.
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20 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with less than 90 days maturity:

 2012  2011 

Cash and short term funds (Note 18)  1,411,237,594  641,265,084 

Treasury Bills with original maturity less than three months  1,014,803,520  912,437,268 

 2,426,041,114  1,553,702,352 

21 Loans and advances to customers

 2012  2011 

Gross 6,785,479,400  7,229,386,728 

Less : Provision for impairment [Note 23 (a)] (1,257,580,021)  (1,446,615,250)

Less : Interest in suspense (Note 24) (457,982,349)  (723,035,649)

Net total 5,069,917,030 5,059,735,829

Comprising:

Bills of exchange (Note 22) 7,125,140  11,244,625 

Loans and advances (Note 23) 5,062,791,890  5,048,491,204 

22 Bills of exchange

 2012  2011 

Import bills  10,805,145  14,105,752 

Less : Provision for impairment [Note 23 (a)]  (1,664,241)  (779,903)

Less : Interest in suspense [Note 24]  (2,015,764)  (2,081,224)

Net bills of exchange  7,125,140 11,244,625

Current  5,317,377  9,255,158 

Non-current  1,807,763  1,989,467 

23 Loans and advances

 2012  2011 

Overdrafts  881,938,618  1,114,270,293 

Development banking loans  230,899,051  233,013,293 

Loans under EIB refinance scheme for restoration of resorts affected by Tsunami  676,611,336  742,541,217 

Other commercial term loans  4,726,226,434  4,875,167,303 

Trust receipts  34,755,128  36,811,300 

Credit card balances  158,641,296  147,068,023 

Staff loans  65,602,392  66,409,547 

 6,774,674,255  7,215,280,976 

Less : Provision for impairment [Note 23 (a)] (1,255,915,780)  (1,445,835,347)

Less : Interest in suspense (Note 24) (455,966,585)  (720,954,425)

Net loans and advances  5,062,791,890  5,048,491,204 

Current  1,821,479,467  1,852,579,842 

Non-current 3,241,312,423  3,195,911,362 
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(a) Movement in provision for impairment are as follows:

 2012  2011 

(i) Specific provision

Balance at 1 January  1,390,980,480  1,426,010,776 

Amount recovered during the year  (235,831,192)  (40,870,044)

Provision made during the year  286,168,607  508,244,221 

Loans written off during the year as uncollectible  (239,519,899)  (606,529,154)

Exchange differences  -   104,124,681 

Balance at 31 December  1,201,797,996  1,390,980,480 

 2012  2011 
(ii) General provision

Balance at 1 January  55,634,770  89,086,274 

Provision made during the year  6,726,314  3,214,346 

Provision reversal  (6,628,968)  (43,393,235)

Exchange differences  49,910  6,727,385 

Balance at 31 December  55,782,025  55,634,770 

Total  1,257,580,021  1,446,615,250 

2012 2011 

Represented by:

Loans and advances  1,255,915,780  1,445,835,347 

Bills of exchange  1,664,241  779,903 

 1,257,580,021  1,446,615,250 

24 Movement in interest in suspense

 2012  2011 
Balance at 1 January 723,035,649  629,227,734 

Amount suspended during the year  316,965,405  392,153,227 

Amount reversed due to recovery  (25,147,989)  (60,985,075)

Exchange differences  -  104,044,680 

Loans written off during the year  (556,870,716)  (341,404,917)

Balance at 31 December 457,982,349 723,035,649

Represented by:

Loans and advances 455,966,585  720,954,425 

Bills of exchange  2,015,764  2,081,224 

457,982,349 723,035,649
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25 Assets quality

Non performing assets included as advances and bills of exchange on which interest is not being accrued are as follows:

 2012  2011 
Loans and advances  2,865,321,157  2,512,512,976 

Bills of exchange  5,487,768  4,850,593 

 2,870,808,925  2,517,363,569 

26 Financial assets held to maturity

 2012  2011 

Treasury Bills with original maturity more than three months  -   403,264,985 

Current  -   403,264,985 

27 Investment available-for-sale 

Available-for-
sale 

Total 2012 Total 2011

At the beginning of the year  5,129,699  5,129,699  5,079,115 

Additions  -  -  - 

Exchange differences  -  -  50,584 

At the end of the year  5,129,699  5,129,699  5,129,699 

Less: allowance for falling value of investment  (4,810,453)  (4,810,453)  (4,810,453)

 319,246  319,246  319,246 

Non-current  319,246  319,246  319,246 

Available-for-sale investments consist of investment in equity shares of MFLC and investment in SWIFT, are stated at cost less allowance for falling value of 
investment, since the fair value of these unlisted shares and bonds cannot be measured reliably.
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28 Property, plant and equipment

    Land  Bank 
 premises 

 Leasehold 
 buildings 

 Computer 
 equipment 

 Furniture 
 and 

equipment 

 Motor 
vehicles 

 and 
vessels 

 Capital 
work- 

 in-
progress 

 Total 
2012 

 Total 
2011 

Cost/ Revaluation

As at 1st January  -  103,088,626  7,187,199  122,658,063  27,214,059  8,611,652  2,351,466  271,111,065  257,296,020 

Additions during 
the year

 -  2,294,765  1,033,783  13,038,201  2,014,854  -  23,016,497  41,398,100  13,942,097 

Revaluation surplus  56,233,500  42,135,731  -  -  -  -  -  98,369,231  - 

Revaluation 
adjustment on 
accumulated 
depreciation

 -  (51,442,622)  -  -  -  -  -  (51,442,622)  - 

Disposals during 
the year

 -  -  -  (118,286)  (147,647)  (176,680)  -  (442,613)  (127,052)

Cost / 
valuation  
as at 31st 
December

 56,233,500  96,076,500  8,220,982  135,577,978  29,081,266  8,434,972  25,367,963  358,993,161  271,111,065 

Accumulated 
depreciation 

As at 1st January  -  46,261,236  5,660,737  102,587,256  23,819,957  8,341,060  -  186,670,246  168,216,094 

Depreciation for 
the year (Note 12)

 -  5,181,386  458,620  8,935,408  2,158,969  192,171  -  16,926,554  18,577,864 

Revaluation 
adjustment on 
accumulated 
depreciation

 -  (51,442,622)  -  -  -  -  -  (51,442,622)  - 

Depreciation on 
disposals

 -  -  -  (118,286)  (147,647)  (176,680)  -  (442,613)  (123,712)

 - 

Accumulated 
depreciation  
as at 31st 
December

 -  -  6,119,357  111,404,378  25,831,279  8,356,551  -  151,711,565  186,670,246 

Net book value 
at end of the 
year

 56,233,500  96,076,500  2,101,625  24,173,600  3,249,987  78,421  25,367,963  207,281,596  84,440,819 

(a) Some of the branch offices operate from premises leased from third parties, for which an aggregate sum of MVR 11,354,486 (2011 - MVR9,581,649) were paid as 
operating lease rentals.

(b) The cost of fully depreciated assets at the balance sheet date amounted to MVR 124,745,544 (2011 - MVR103,211,843)

(b) Several plots of land were acquired from the Government of Maldives free of cost.
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29 Intangible assets

 Computer software 
and licenses 

 Total 

2012

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year  72,144,111  72,144,111 

Additions during the year  468,416  468,416 

Balance at end of the year  72,612,527  72,612,527 

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at beginning of the year  46,892,274  46,892,274 

Amortisation for the year (Note 12)  9,067,432  9,067,432 

Balance at end of the year  55,959,706  55,959,706 

Net book value  16,652,821  16,652,821 

2011

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year  69,398,268  69,398,268 

Additions during the year  2,745,843  2,745,843 
 -  - 

Balance at end of the year  72,144,111  72,144,111 

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at beginning of the year  37,469,193  37,469,193 

Amortisation for the year (Note 12)  9,423,081  9,423,081 

Balance at end of the year  46,892,274  46,892,274 

Net book value  25,251,837  25,251,837 

The cost of fully amortised intangible assets at the balance sheet date amounted to MVR30,518,811 (2011 - MVR25,679,475).
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30 Other assets

 2012  2011 

Deposits and prepayments  42,992,716  47,325,234 

Other debtors  81,031,076  83,371,630 

 124,023,792  130,696,864 

Current  124,023,792  130,696,864 

31 Deposits from non-bank customers

 2012  2011 

Current account deposits  3,612,504,001  3,180,503,039 

Saving deposits  3,541,922,329  3,319,812,782 

Term deposits  628,439,077  938,209,444 

Margins on letters of credit  66,800,888  28,966,885 

Margins on trust receipt demand loan  -  17,771,923 

Margins on bank guarantee  27,419,230  33,497,640 

 7,877,085,525  7,518,761,713 

 2012  2011 

Current  7,873,378,540  7,514,488,590 

Non-current  3,706,985  4,273,123 

Included in customer accounts are deposits of MVR94,220,118 ( 2011: MVR77,294,703) held as collateral for irrevocable commitments under import letters of 
credit and bank guarantees.

All deposits have fixed interest rates.

32 Custodian account of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme

Year ended  
31 December 

2012

Year ended  
31 December 

2011

Opening balance  59,294,021  19,767,111 

Collection from beneficiaries  803,610,907  748,286,395 

Disbursement to beneficiaries towards:

- payment of pension  (22,200,705)  (6,339,039)

- their investment in financial instruments  (2,711,980,000)  (1,315,010,007)

Proceed received on maturity of investments  1,891,016,028  612,589,561 

 19,740,251  59,294,021 

 2012  2011 

Current  19,740,251  59,294,021 

MPAO paid a fee of MVR3,303,466 (2011: MVR595,595) to the Bank through MPAO operating account for the custodian service.
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 The funds of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme is invested in following financial assets: 

 Rate/discount  Duration 

 -Government securities 6.97% - 7.86%  3 - 12 months 

 -Term deposits 2.75% - 4.255% 6 months 

 -Sharia investments 6%  3 months 

 -Shares - -

33 Borrowings

 2012  2011 

Government of Maldives loans under:

IFAD credit line  24,245,034  27,128,577 

OPEC credit line  3,137,613  3,757,636 

EIB credit line  480,639,285  797,672,102 

ADB credit line  46,874,199  11,523,599 

Other foreign bank borrowings  81,120,000  119,358,926 

 636,016,131  959,440,840 

Current  102,622,317  149,018,918 

Non-current  533,393,814  810,421,922 

Acronyms:

 IFAD -International Fund for Agricultural Development 

 OPEC -Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries 

 EIB -European Investment Bank 

 ADB -Asian Development Bank 

Maturity of borrowings  2012  2011 

Not later than 1 year  102,622,317  149,018,918 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  364,978,552  501,957,684 

Over 5 years  168,415,262  308,464,238 

 636,016,131 959,440,840

Borrowings at floating rates with a fixed spread  480,639,285  820,701,028 

Borrowings at fixed rates  155,376,846  138,739,812 

 636,016,131 959,440,840
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34 Deferred bank profit taxes

Deferred bank profit taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using an effective tax rate of 25%.

The movement on the deferred tax account is as follows :

 2012  2011 
At the beginning of the year  251,343,102  258,615,311 

Provision for impairment of loans and advances  77,090,993  154,559,167 

Deferred tax asset reversed on write-off/recovery  (118,837,773)  (161,849,800)

(Accelerated)/ decelerated tax depreciation  (549,859)  18,424 

At end of the year  209,046,464  251,343,102 

The deferred tax charge in the income statement represent the following temporary difference:

 2012  2011 
(Accelerated)/ decelerated tax depreciation (549,859) 18,424

Provision for impairment of loans and advances 77,090,993 154,559,167

Deferred tax asset reversed on loans write-off/recovery  (118,837,773)  (161,849,800)

 (42,296,638)  (7,272,209)

35 Other liabilities

 2012  2011 

Accrued expenses  28,556,315  20,043,045 

Employees provident fund  96,097,968  88,931,881 

Other liabilities  4,014,462  3,925,944 

Sundry creditors  21,562,635  25,430,873 

Development funds (Refer Note below)  144,989,464  95,617,139 

Items in transit  4,855,992  11,594,575 

 300,076,836  245,543,457 

 2012  2011 

Current 58,989,404 60,994,437

Non-current 241,087,432 184,549,020

The Bank manages and administers several loan schemes under which the Bank, as a custodian receives funds from various donors and disburses such funds to 
beneficiaries. The movement in these development funds are given below:

Development Funds  2012  2011 

Opening balance  232,524,620  212,389,660 

Amount received  81,244,977  14,535,504 

Add: Interest accrued on loans during the year  7,193,721  9,343,424 

Less: Interest on loan given to fund  (779,904)  (743,828)

Less: Administration fees  (4,004,288)  (3,000,140)

 316,179,126  232,524,620 

Less: Loans and advances at the year-end  (171,189,662)  (136,907,481)

 144,989,464  95,617,139 
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36 Ordinary shares and share premium

Number             
of shares

Ordinary            
shares       

 Share       
premium 

 Total 

At 31 December 2011 5,381,920  269,096,000  93,000,000  362,096,000 

At 31 December 2012 5,381,920  269,096,000  93,000,000  362,096,000 

The total authorised number of ordinary shares at the year end was 16,000,000 (2011: 16,000,000) with a par value of MVR50 (2011: MVR50) per share. All 
issued shares are fully paid.

37 Reserves

 2012  2011 

Statutory reserve 150,000,000 150,000,000

Assigned capital reserve 6,000,000 6,000,000

General reserve  248,784,005 248,784,005

Total reserves at end of year  404,784,005  404,784,005 

Movement in reserves were as follows:

Statutory reserve

At beginning of year 150,000,000 150,000,000

At end of year 150,000,000 150,000,000

Assigned capital reserve

At beginning of year 6,000,000  6,000,000 

At end of year  6,000,000  6,000,000 

In accordance with the subsidiary loan agreement between the Bank and the Government of the Republic of Maldives, on Atolls credit and development banking 
project, the bank made a reserve of MVR6 million as Assigned capital reserve.

Total statutory and assigned capital reserves

At beginning of year 156,000,000 156,000,000

At end of year  156,000,000  156,000,000 

General reserve  2012  2011 

Balance at 1 January 248,784,005 248,784,005

At end of year  248,784,005  248,784,005 
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38 Contingencies

(a)  Contingent liabilities and commitments

In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various commitments and incurs certain contingent liabilities with legal recourse to its customers. No material 
losses are anticipated as a result of these transactions. The commitments are quantified below;

 2012  2011 

Loan commitments  486,044,459  554,669,174 

Acceptances  40,214,089  62,439,530 

Letters of credit  109,209,403  112,910,851 

Guarantees  117,492,678  117,043,218 

 752,960,629  847,062,773 

(b)  Unutilised irrevocable commitments

The unutilised value of irrevocable commitments relating to letters of credit, acceptances and permanent overdrafts which cannot be withdrawn at the discretion of 
the Bank, without risk of incurring significant penalties or expenses approximates to MVR225,085,892 (2011: MVR220,907,606) as at the balance sheet date.

(c)  Investment

The Board of Directors of Bank of Maldives PLC has subscribed and paid at par value for a shareholding upto 10 (ten) percent in the total equity share capital of 
MFLC at an aggregate amount equal to US$ 500,000 (MVR6,425,000). The Bank is required to enter into a Put Option agreement with International Finance 
Corporation (IFC) and under the said Put Option, IFC shall have the right to sell its shares in MFLC as specified in the Put Option to, inter alia, the Bank, and the 
Bank is obliged to purchase from IFC the shares thus offered to the Bank. The Bank’s said obligations under the Put Option may be continued as an unquantifiable 
contingent liability and the Government has agreed to indemnify the Bank against such contingent liability.

(d)  Contingent assets

There were no material contingent assets recognised at the balance sheet date.

39 Contingent liabilities and commitments

(a) Legal proceedings

The bank, in normal course of business, files cases against the customer to recover long outstanding loans and advances. There were a number of pending legal 
proceedings filed by the Bank at 31 December 2012. Except for any liabilities that may arise as a result of the ruling against the bank in relation to cases filed, in 
the opinion of the directors, there are no other legal action against or instituted by the Bank or other matters that will give rise to material contingent liabilities to be 
recognised or disclosed in the financial statements.

(b)  Capital commitments

There were no material capital commitments outstanding as at the balance sheet date.

(c)  Operating lease commitments

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

 2012  2011 

Not later than 1 year  10,922,091  10,182,945 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  33,610,060  30,458,043 

Later than 5 years  2,682,872  8,134,340 

 47,215,023  48,775,328 
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40 Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of net profit to cash generated from operations:

 2012  2011 

Profit before tax 499,212,999  7,297,583 

Adjustments for :

Depreciation (Note 12)  16,926,554  18,577,864 

Amortisation (Note 12)  9,067,432  9,423,081 

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (Note 10)  (46,332)  (180)

Increase/ (decrease) in provision for other losses  88,518  (1,238,299)

Provision for bad and doubtful debts (Note 13)  292,894,921  511,458,567 

Reversal of general provision (Note 10)  (6,628,968)  (43,393,235)

Recovery of specific provision (Note 10)  (235,831,192)  (40,870,044)

Allowance for falling value of investment (Note 14)  -  4,810,453 

Decrease/ (increase) in interest receivables  7,730,595  (15,294,212)

Increase/ (decrease) in accrued expenses  8,513,270  (454,237)

Decrease / (increase) in prepayments and advances  4,332,518  (124,310)

Cash generated from operations 596,260,315 450,193,031

41 Related party transactions

The Bank is controlled by Government of Maldives which owns a 51% of the ordinary shares. The remaining 49% of the shares are widely held.

A number of banking transactions are entered into with State controlled entities in the normal course of business. These include loans, deposits, trade finance and 
foreign currency transactions. The volume of related party transactions and outstanding balances at the year end are as follows:

(All amounts are shown in Maldivian Rufiyaa unless otherwise stated) 

Directors and related 
entities

Government and related 
entities

 2012  2011  2012  2011 

Loans

Loans outstanding at 1 January  32,517,767  32,583,839  698,172,872  706,599,348 

Loans issued during the year  7,151  5,382,428  354,798,197  182,211,404 

Loan repayments during the year  (490,005)  (5,448,500)  (304,251,675)  (190,637,880)

Loans outstanding at 31 December  32,034,913  32,517,767  748,719,394  698,172,872 

 2012  2011  2012  2011 

Deposits

Deposits at 1 January  27,306,416  13,838,433 1,399,600,392  1,240,860,078 

Net increase/ (decrease) in deposits during the year (17,952,011)  13,467,983  (584,063,856)  158,740,314 

Deposits at 31 December  9,354,405  27,306,416  815,536,536  1,399,600,392 



Notes to the Financial Statements

.

 2012  2011  2012  2011 

Other transactions with related parties

Guarantees issued by the Bank  -  -  2,475,345  43,499,561 

 -  -  2,475,345  43,499,561 

Key management compensation

 2012  2011 

Salaries and other short term benefits  11,927,418  6,772,378 

Provident fund contribution  5,531,428  4,710,761 

 17,458,846  11,483,139 

The Bank invests in Treasury Bills issued by the Maldives Monetary Authority (on behalf of Government of Maldives). At the balance sheet date value of outstanding 
Treasury Bills was amounting to MVR1,014,803,520 (2011 MVR1,315,702,253). In addition to this, the Bank also utilised other products of MMA such as 
Open Market Operation (OMO) and Overnight Placement during the year 2012.

Empowered by the Article 4(c) of MMA Act, the Financial sector division of the Maldives Monetary Authority carries out the regulatory and supervisory functions 
of the banks licensed by the Authority. The Bank of Maldives PLC which had been funded by the Government and having a significant influence, falls under the 
supervision of this division. Please refer Note 19 to the financial statements for outstanding balance with the Authority.

42 Post balance sheet events

(i) Bank of Maldives PLC has established two subsidiary companies in the name of B.M.L Investments Pvt Ltd and B.M.L Properties Pvt Ltd on 21st January 
2013.

(ii) No other events have occurred since the balance sheet date, which would require adjustments to, or disclosure in, the financial statements.
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Investor Information
Capital Structure
During the financial year 2012, the Authorized Share Capital of the Bank remained unchanged at MVR800,000,000 while the Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Capital of the 
Bank as at 31st December 2012 also remained unaffected at MVR269,096,000.

Shareholding Structure

2012 2011
Shareholders Total 

Shares
Share Capital 

(in MVR)
% Total 

Shares
Share Capital 

(in MVR)
%

Government (MOFT) 2,733,868 136,693,400 50.80% 2,733,868 136,693,400 50.80%

Government Employees Provident Fund 394,380 19,719,000 7.33% 394,380 19,719,000 7.33%

State Trading Organization PLC (STO) 228,566 11,428,300 4.25% 228,566 11,428,300 4.25%

Maldives Transport and Contracting Company PLC 
(MTCC)

219,096 10,954,800 4.07% 219,096 10,954,800 4.07%

Atoll/Island Community Accounts 219,096 10,954,800 4.07% 219,096 10,954,800 4.07%

General Public 1,586,914 79,345,700 29.48% 1,586,914 79,345,700 29.48%

Total 5,381,920 269,096,000 100.00% 5,381,920 269,096,000 100.00%
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Share Price Movement
BML’s shares were traded moderately in the Maldives Stock Exchange during the year 2012. A total of 7 trade transactions were conducted in which 337 shares of BML were 
traded. The Weighted Average Price over the year was MVR93.28 and the total value of the shares traded was MVR31,435.00. At the beginning of the year 2012, the market 
price per share was MVR73.00 and the first traded price amounted to MVR70.00 per share while the last traded price at the close of the year was MVR135.00. The highest 
quoted price during the year amounted to MVR225.00 while the lowest amounted to MVR70.00.

2012 2011
Market Statistics (In MVR)
First Traded Price 70.00 120.00

Highest Price 225.00 120.00

Lowest Price 70.00   64.00

Last Traded Price 135.00 73.00

Weighted Average Price 93.28 74.34

Market Capitalization at financial year end 726,559,200 392,880,160

Information on Share Trading
Number of Transactions 07 37

Number of Shares Traded 337 9178

Value of Shares Traded (in MVR) 31,435 682,322
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Contacts
HEAD OFFICE
Bank of Maldives PLC
11, Boduthakurufaanu Magu
Male’ City, 20094
Republic of Maldives
Company Registry No. C-22/1982
Tel: +(960) 333 0102
Fax: +(960) 332 8233
Swift: MALBMVMV
Website: www.bankofmaldives.com.mv
e-mail: info@bml.com.mv

CALL CENTRE
Bank of Maldives PLC
Shamsudeen Bodufadiyaaru Thakurufaanu Magu
Seenu Hithadhoo, Addu City, 19020
Republic of Maldives
Tel: +(960) 333 0200
Fax: +(960) 333 8041
e-mail: cardcentre@bml.com.mv
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